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QUESTIONS PRESENTED

This case involves the killing of a white teenager by a black defendant.
The case was so racially charged that the defense attorneys — who were also
black - were granted funding by the trial court for private security after being
victimized by vandalism and racially motivated death threats. Twice, over the
course of two consecutive trials, the prosecutor struck each black juror seated.
The defense repeatedly objected under Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986)
(Batson). Each time, the objections were denied.

In justifying his strikes of the black jurors, the prosecutor repeatedly cited
their responses to the question: “Were you upset with the criminal jury’s verdict
in the O.d. Simpson case?” The stricken jurors — and all black potential jurors in
the entire venire — uniformly answered this question by checking “no.”

1. Should this court resolve the conflict in the lower courts concerning
. whether striking black jurors by using racially charged _
characteristics unrelated to the case is permissibly race-neutral?

2. If a reviewing court finds many of the prosecution’s justifications
for its strikes flawed, and also finds that numerous justifications
apply equally to seated jurors, may that court bolster the
prosecutor’s showing by relying on differences between stricken and
seated jurors that were cited neither by the prosecutor nor by the
state’s attorneys on appeal?

3. Should this Court hold this case in abeyance pending its resolution
of Flowers v. Mississippi, ____S.Ct. ___ (2018) (No. 17-9572)?




TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
QUESTIONS PRESENTED .....ccoviiiiitiitii vttt eccrieseeeeseeeeeeeeeesenesaresessnsessns i
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES ....ooooviieiiieie ettt eeteeeeeeeeereessensssseesssesesssesons v
PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDINGS .....coooviiviiiiereeeeeeeeereeseeeeeeresssrsesesneesns 1
OPINION BELOW ....oiitiiiieiitiicciee ettt stne e eseeeseseeesesessensesesesessesesnsenns 1
JURISDICTION......... FE S SO OUPRRRRTRUUPRRON 1.
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES INVOLVED........... 1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE......eovoeeeeeereeeeeeeeeserssessssssssoeseeeeeeeeseeesesssssenon 2
I. AN INTERRACIAL KILLING AND A RACIALLY -

CHARGED TRIAL ..ottt s et esevaeenseesaeeseessessseesseeas 2
1I. THE PROSECUTOR TWICE STRIKES ALL

BLACK PROSPECTIVE JURORS, REPEATEDLY

INVOKING BLACK JURORS’ ATTITUDES

TOWARDS THE O.J. SIMPSON TRIAL .....coovoveevireeeeceeereeeeerrenenns 4

A. The Batson Hearing at the First Trial...ccccccoeeveeeeiveeeeinnevennnn. 5

B. The Batson Hearings at the Second Trial ...occcevevevveevrerenennn. 6
III. THE CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT AFFIRMS,

DESPITE RECOGNIZING MANY FLAWS IN THE

PROSECUTOR'S JUSTIFICATIONS ...ovevteecteeeeeeeeeeesireesseessiesenns 12

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT .....coioveeeeeeeereieeieeeeereeseeressesins 13

I. THE COURT SHOULD RESOLVE THE SPLIT OF

AUTHORITY CONCERNING THE PROPRIETY OF

PROSECUTORS USING RACIALLY CHARGED

CHARACTERISTICS UNRELATED TO THE CASE

TO JUSTIFY STRIKING MINORITY JURORS....oooveeeveereereernn, 13

ii




TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
A. There Exists a Signficant Split of Authority on
How to Address Justifications for Eliminating
Black Jurors that Are Based on Racially Charged
CharacteriStiCs ....oivriiieirecie et ceree e e sereseeresveeesaeeas 15
B. This Case Presents a Ready Vehicle to Address the
Split of Authority on the Propriety of Using Racially
Charged Justifications Unrelated to the Case .........cueu....... 22
II. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO RESOLVE
THE ACKNOWLEDGED SPLIT OF AUTHORITY
REGARDING WHETHER A REVIEWING COURT
CAN DEFEAT COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS BY
MANUFACTURING REASONS NEVER ARTICULATED
BY PROSECUTORS IN ORDER TO JUSTIFY WHY
SIMILARLY SITUATED JURORS WERE SEATED .....cccocvvenenn.. 24
A. The Instant Case Exemplifies the Latest Iteration
of the California Court’s Evasion of this Court’s
-Batson JUrisSprudence........ucieeiiiivvcineieriieieeeesiieesnreesesens ..2b
B. Lower Courts Conflict on the Propriety of Reviewing
Courts Inferring Distinctions Between Seated and
Stricken Jurors that Were Never Cited at Trial.................. 29
C. This Case Presents an Appropriate Vehicle to Clarify
the Proper Application of Comparative Analysis................. 33
III. THIS PETITION RAISES ISSUES WHICH WILL LIKELY
SOON BE DECIDED BY THIS COURT IN FLOWERS V.
MISSISSIPPL.......ovivirie it eeitieiies e csseesesesssaesesessseteserseessssseses 33
CONCLUSION....eccttiitiiiienieene s creesrt et sseeereeereeertesneesnnessesssessnees 40

iii




TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
APPENDIX ...ttt e esee et esare s sare s srreessnesebeesareaenesanenes 41

A. People v. Smith, No. S065233, California Supreme Court

Slip Opinion May 21, 2018)......cccviievrreiirirreireeeiseeeseneraen s 41
B. People v. Smith, No. 5065233, California Supreme Court

Denial of the Petition for Rehearing (July 18, 2018)............ 42
C.  Smith v. California, Application No. 18A380, Order

Granting Application to Extend Time Within Which

to File Petition for Writ of Certiorari

(October 11, 2018)...c.uiiicieiiiercieerreceerecrie e sb et 43
D. List of Batson Decisions Published by the California

Supreme Court Since 1989 ......cccvveeeivririorieinierisereeesneesenens 44

iv




TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
FEDERAL CASES
Chamberlin v. Fisher
885 F.3d 832 (B5th Cir. 2018) ..evviiriiiiiiiinrieiciieie et erveeessetresseeeeeseesssesnes 31
Flowers v. Mississippi
‘ No. 17-9572, ___ S.Ct. ___ (NOV. 2, 2018) ..cvviiiviiiieeriieeieteeeseeieeeesreeeesereseeenes 37
Foster v. Chatman
BT U.S. __ (2016) ceieieeieeiriciiiieiiries et e e seir e ceeinere s s esaeeeesebeesaneeas 265, 32
Green v. LaMarque
532 F.3d 1028 (9th Cir. 2008) .....cccvvevreiiiieiiiireite et eereeeereeseseseesreeseeesesesnas 30
Hernandez v. New York
500 U.S. 362 (1991) ............ eeree et e e e a e e e beesseabees fieernee vreeesiveenniniens 14
Johnson v. California .
BAB TS, 162.iiiiiiuiieeieiiireeriritreeceirr e s cirer e esbe e s e sbv e ees bt e sssetessesesseessaseeeseseaeesreeans 37
Manning v. Epps -
695 F.Supp.2d 323 (N.D. Miss. 2009) ....eciiviriiiireiiriiriisieeeesisieereeseeeesrnessseneees 19
Miller-El v. Dretke
545 U.S. 231 (2008) .cuvviiereeiiirieeiinieeniereeies st esreecnrrsesreeesseeesessseessesenssennne passim
Olmstead v. L.C. ex rel. Zimring
B27 TS, B8L (1999) .euviiiiiiiiiieiiirereccie e csiree s ste s s nte s ssrbe e s e s sbeeseseressaeeseseees 25
Powers v. Ohio
499 U.S. 400 (1991) .eeutriiiereeiiiiiieiriee e srre s e etereeereee e esenarees 21
Purkett v. Elem
D14 TS, TB5 (19985) cuuuriiiiiiirireerireeee it sirtee s istr e e srtaresssseeseesaneesseseeesessesessresesns 14
Snyder v. Louisiana
D52 U.LS. 472 (2008) .evreiiiieeiiiee ittt ciie et see e e seseessansteeeeeesssessseeas 24, 25




TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)

United States v. Torres-Ramos

536 F.3d 542 (6th Cir. 2008) ..cccviiiviireiieiiiiieeeiiiieeeeeereteesessesesessneserssessessessessens 30

STATE CASES

Broady v, Com.

16 Va. APP. 281 (1993) cururiirrerieiiirieieiiieecesiareeesenreeeesseseeeseveseessetessensressssssesasss 31
Brown v. State - .

733 So. 2d 1128 (Fla. Dist. Ct. APDP. 1999) weoiiiiiieeieeeeeee et eerteeereeeseeseneaens 17
Clark v. State

601 So. 2d 284 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1992) ..uvvviiiiiiie i eeeeeeree e eeee e s s 17
Clayton v. State

341 Ga. APDP. 193 (20L7) weruriiiiiiiiiiiiiieie e eeeeeceeesseeseresneereeeeessesssesnsssseesesesessseenssns 15
Congdon v. State

262 GA. 883 (1993) eeeereieieriiriiiiiiiiiieiireeieeeetttsesesssessessesessessessessssessesssesssseresssesssees 20
Craig v. State

No. 06-07-00038-CR, 2008 WL 89751 (Tex. App. Jan. 10, 2008) .................... 19
Davis v. Fisk Elec. Co.

268 S.W.3d 508 (TexX. 2008).....ccuuiiiiiriiiiiiinrireriireeereiieteeesseesesseeesesreesessessssssses 30
Flowers v. State

240 S0. 3d 1082 (IVIISS: 200 7)uuuuvireriiiiiinrireeeeeiesirieesetrereerseesarsnseseessssseessssessseses 39
Herbert v. State

No. 10-11-00290-CR, 2012 WL 1366576 (Tex. App. Apr. 18,

20 ) ettt e s ettt ese e et e et aeeratea et et s ———treterterrr s 19
Jessie v. State

659 So. 2d 167 (Ala. Crim. APP. 1994)....cciiieiiiirieieirieieirteeeerreeeesveeeseeesessseseas 15
McCrea v. Gheraibeh '

380 S.C. 183 (2008)..ccvriiriiriiiieiiiiiiieriiiirnrenererereeecennss eerrreereer e e retre e rrrere s taes 15

vi




TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)

People v. Beauvais

393 P.3d 509 (C0lo. 2017)...uiiriireeiieiirericciiree ettt eresirere e csrrs s esiressentesaeeeeens 32
People v. Box

23 Cal. 4th 1153 (2000) ....eviirieeiiiiericrieeciee e e ereessreeeeireeserreesreeserssensesssesssanens 26
People v. Douglas

22 Cal. App. 5th 1162 (Cal. Ct. App. 2018) ..cccvuriiiiiriieiiieeeeeeee st esieeesesenas 24
People v. Fuentes

54 Cal. 3d TOT (1991) uiiieciiieciee e e st e b ssrere et e se st esbeeesanens 27
People v. Gutierrez ’

2 Cal. 5th 1150 (2017) ceeieeiiiie ittt cesre e sarrcsnasessarenes 27, 31
People v. Harris

57 Cal. 4th 804 (2013) ccveviiiieiiiiir et becerarte e s srtneesssteeeseesea 27, 28
People v. Johnson

30 Cal. 4th 1302 (2008) c.veriiriieiiiieereiieerieee e e s csie e e e erresesressseseseens 26, 27
People v. Johnson .

4T Cal. 3d 1194 (1989) .cccuiiiierererieeeiiirirreseres e e sseesssreseree v e s sesseeesaeeas 26
People v. Lenix

44 Cal. 4th 602 (2008) .ccccveicireeirieeecireece et serbe e st eeereeereeaareeas 27
People v. Mallory

121 A.D.3d 1566 (N.Y. App. Div. 2014) eocoviriiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 17,18
People v. Pierrot

289 A.D.2d 511 (N.Y. App. Div. 2000) ..cccviiiiuiiiiiiiiririreeecieeersneesereeseieeereessneas 15
People v. Silas

No. A150512 (Cal. Ct. App. filed Feb. 9, 2017) e 21
People v. Silva

25 Cal. 4th 345 (2000) .iiieeiiiiieiiie et et e s er e s e s s aaee s 27

vii




TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)

People v. Smith

4 Cal. 5th 1134 (2018) ..ceeiiiirrieeeecree ittt srbe e e sesass e s ieeeeenanes passim
People v. Trevino

39 CAL. 3A 667 (1985)..vemeeerereeeereeeseesssesesssessssssessessessssessesssesessessesssesssesssssenns 26
People v. Williams

56 Cal. 450 830 (2018) covuvverererereeeeeeseessessreessesssessessessesssesses e ssesesessss e 28, 31
People v. Winbush

2 Cal. Bt 402 (20LT) ureeeeeeeeeeieiireei it e e crrerreeee s srarees e e e eneresseeaes 31, 32, 39
Sharp v, State

151 So. 3d 342 (Ala. Crim. App. 2010)..ccceeiiiiiriiiieiieiireeceree e eeiseeeeneeeeeas 30
Shelling v. State

52 S.W.3d 213 (Tox. APP. 2001) eeiiiiireeeeiiiiiieiereerereieieesesesesseeseeeessaneesessan 18, 19
State v. Coleman :

970 S0. 2d 51T (LA 2007) curveerieerieniiiiieiiiiiiisissiieeererieeeeeeseesessassesassesnnesssssss 15, 18
State v. Cook

175 Wash, App. 36 (2018)...eccccreeeeierieiriiiei e cirineccsnreeeereeeseinseesessessesneesssesenessns 15
State v. McFadden _

191 S.W.3d 648 (M. 2000)......ccireiirriiiiiiriirieieeiiniireeeeiisrrereesseesesseessessssrnessssnns 30
State v. McRae = -

494 N.W.2d 252 (MInNN. 1992) ceevieeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiireeseesessetesesessvessrerasssessssns 18
State v. Self

No. E201402466CCAR3CD, 2016 WL 4542412

(Tenn. Crim. App. AUg. 29, 2016) ...uvvviiiiiiiiiiiriiiriesiereeeeeeeeireeressssrerereressinneees 21
Turnbull v. State

9569 So. 2d 275 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2000) ..c.cccovvrririiiieiieeeeeeeeriireeeessesieneeens 16, 17

viii




TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL STATUTES
28 U.S.C.

§ L2BT(A) 1eeiieeiirreeeeiiirieereee sttt ee e eser e e e e e sesseebaeeseseesaabnreeessabrtaeesennrrees

Cal. Code Civ. Proc.
§ 223(d)

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

U.S. Const. amend.

OTHER AUTHORITIES

Jeffrey Billman, Yes, race did play a role in the Trayvon Martin
case, ORLANDO WEEKLY, July 16, 2013

Edward Boyer and John Mitchell, Acquittal, Deadlock in Riot Case:

Denny Beating Trial Ends with Mistrial Declared on Final
Assault Charge, LLA. TIMES, Oct. 21, 1993

CNN-Time Magazine, Races disagree on impact of Simpson trial
(October 6, 1995) available at
https://www.cnn.com/US/OdJ/daily/9510/10-

Russell D. Covey, The Unbearable Lightness of Batson: Mixed

Motives and Discrimination in Jury Selection, 66 MD. L. REV.
279, 297-301 (2006)

Juan De Lara, INLAND SHIFT: RACE, SPACE, AND CAPITAL IN
SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA 123-124 (2018)

Josh Dulaney, Honoring King in Former KKK Hotbed, THE PRESS-
ENTERPRISE, Jan. 11, 2012

ix

..................................................................................................

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

------------------------------------------------

------------------------------------------

...................

------------------------------------------------------------------------------

--------------------------------------------------------------------




TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Gilad Edelman, Why Is It So Easy For Prosecutors To Strike Black
Jurors? THE NEW YORKER (June 5, 2015)

Bob Egelko and Megan Cassidy, ‘O.J. Strategy’ Lawyers Say
Prosecutors Ask about Guilt to Cull Black Jurors, SAN FRANCSCO
CHRONICLE

Flowers v. Mississippi, No. 17-9572, Petition for Certiorari, 2018
W1, 4929890

Foster v. Chatman, No. 14-8349, Brief for Respondent,
2015 WL 5302540

Miller-El v. Dretke, No. 03-9659, Brief for Respondent, 2004 WL
2446199

Kareh Nelson, Batson Basics (2004), available at

https://www.themarshallproject.org/documents/2461886-batson-
basics (last visited Dec. 14, 2018)

David Olson, Blacks Reflect on Legacy of Fontana, SAN BERNARDINO
COUNTY SUN, Feb. 15, 2010

Snyder v. Louisiana, 06-10119, Brief for Respondent, 2007 WL
3307731

.............................................

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

...........................................................................................

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

---------------------------------------------------------

-------------------------------------------------------------------

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------




Petitioner, Floyd Daniel Smith, respectfully petitions for a Writ of
Certiorari to review the judgment of the Supreme Court of the State of
California affirming his conviction and sentence of death.

PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDINGS

The parties to the proceedings below were petitioner, Floyd Daniel Smith,

and Respondent, the People of the State of California.
OPINION BELOW

The California Supreme Court issued an opinion in this case on May 21,
2018, reported as People v. Smith, 4 Cal. 5th 1134 (2018). A copy of that opinion
is attached. Appendix A. Petitioner filed for rehearing on June 7, 2018. On
July 18, 2018, the California Supreme Court denied rehearing. Appendix B.

J URISDICTION

The California Supreme Court entered its judgment on May 21, 2018 and
rehearing was denied on July 18, 2018. On October 11, 2018, Chief Justice
Roberts granted petitioner’s application for extension of time within which to file
a petition for certiorari in this case to December 15, 2018. A copy of the letter
from the Clerk of the Court notifying petitioner of the extension is attached as
Appendix C. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1257(a).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES INVOLVED

The Fourteenth Amendment provides that no state shall “deny to any

person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.”




STATEMENT OF THE CASE
I. AN INTERRACIAL KILLING AND A RACIALLY CHARGED TRIAL

In 1997, petitioner Floyd Smith, a young black man, was tried for
murdering a white teenager, Joshua Rexford. The prosecution theory was that
Smith sought to avenge the recent killing of a friend by ambushing Rexford
(whose brother was believed to be responsible for the prior killing) in a friend’s -
apartment. See People v. Smith, 4 Cal. 5th 1134, 1142-43 (2018) (Smith)
(summarizing prosecution case). Smith was convictéd of murder and sentenced
to death. Id. at 1141.

Smith lived and was arresfed in Fontana, a town “once known for cross
burnings and segregated neighborhoods” and which was, at the time of trial,
widely recognized as a regional headquarters for the Ku Klux Klan. Josh
Dulaney, Honoring King in Former KKK Hotbed, THE PRESS-ENTERPRISE, Jan.
11, 2012; David Olson, Blacks Reflect on Legacy of Fontana, SAN BERNARDINO
COUNTY SUN, Feb. 15, 2010; Juan De Lara, INLAND SHIFT: RACE, SPACE, AND
CAPITAL IN SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA 123-124 (2018) (San Bernardino County area
had “one of the highest concentrations of hate groups in the country” and
references to Fontana as “Klan territory” were pervasive in late-1990s).

The trial itself was charged with race issues and racial violence. Both of
petitioner’s attorneys were black, and one of them (Edi Faal) had represented a

defendant in the infamous Reginald Denny beating trial which occurred four




years prior in Los Angeles.! Jurors in San Bernardino County still remembered.
Mzr. Faal's participation in the Denny case was discussed in negative terms by
jurors, see, e.g., 195CT:5431 (“I do not have a very high opinion of Mr. Faal”);
2RT:577-578; 4RT:984-988, and caused the trial court to voice concern that ill
will from the controversial Denny trial would spread among jurors, several of
whom knew of Mr. Faal. 4RT:993-94. Mr. Faal was himself a victim of racial
threats and violence. During the trial, Mr. Faal’s tires were slashed outside the
courthouse, and he received anonymous, racially-motivated death threéts.
13RT:3980, 16RT:5184. As a result of its concerns over racial violence, the trial
court granted petitioner’s counsel funding for a private security detail during
trial. 13RT:3980; 16RT:5185.

Racial issues also (iirectly impacted voir dire: the trial court believed that
the race of the defendant and his counsel would create “special difficulties” in
dealing with the problem of “racial issues” among the San Bernardino County
jury pool. As a result, the trial court ordered special individual énd sequestered
voir dire. 4RT:787-788; ¢f. Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 223(d) (disfavoring this

practice). Although the prosecutor objected repeatedly to individual voir dire on

| Reginald Denny was a white truck driver who was viciously assaulted during the
race riots which ensued following the acquittal of several white police officers accused of
assaulting Rodney King. See Edward Boyer and John Mitchell, Acquittal, Deadlock in Riot
Case: Denny Beating Trial Ends with Mistrial Declared on Final Assault Charge, L.A.
TIMES, Oct. 21, 1993 (describing Denny trial verdict as the “climax to one of the most racially
charged chapters in Los Angeles history”).
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~ the issue of racial prejudice, 2RT:777, it proved fruitful. See, e.g., 3RT:772
(prospective juror believed that African-Americans are “more likely than not to
commit crimes” and were “very prejudiced towards others”); 4RT:878-79 (“in the
past” prospective juror “didn’t really like [African-Americans] too much” and his
attitude toward them “wasn’t very nice”); 14SCT:3976 (“I used to hate them all”).
II. THE PROSECUTOR TWICE STRIKES ALL BLACK.

PROSPECTIVE JURORS, REPEATEDLY INVOKING BLACK

JURORS’ ATTITUDES TOWARDS THE O.J. SIMPSON TRIAL

Because Mr. Smith’s first trial ended in a mistrial, resulting in a second
trial, two consecutive juries were selected. Jury selection for the first trial began
in February 1997, approximately 17 months after the verdict in the O.d.
Simpson murder trial. The second trial occurred in the same year.

Beyond the fact that both cases involved interracial killings, Mr. Smith’s
case had no relationship or similarity to the Simpson case. Nonetheless, two
dttestions concerning the Simpson case were included in the juror questionnaire
for both trials. Question 41 was a general one, asking whether prospective
jurors followed various crime stories in the news — concluding with the Simpson
case — then asking “[w]hat did you learn about these cases?” 10:7thSCT:2769-
2700. The second question, Question 49 (hereinafter “0O.J. Simpson Question”),
focused exclusively on the Simpson case. It asked “[w]ere you upset with the

criminal jury’s verdict in the O. J. Simpson case? Yes___ No ___ Whether you

answered yes or no, please explain your answer[.]” Id. at 2772.




A. The Batson Hearing at the First Trial

In his first three strikes in the first trial, the prosecutor eliminated the
only two black prospective jurors who made it into the box, resulting in an all-
white jury.2 4RT:1039. After removing all black jurors with his initial three
strikes, the prosecutor exercised no more peremptory challenges. He
subsequently accepted the panel six times. 4RT:978, 982, 998, 1003, 1012, ‘10'19.
When the prosecutor later eliminlated a black prospective alternate juror, Mr.
Smith himself raised a Batson objection. See 4RT:1039-1047. The trial court
invited the prosecutor to provide justifications, which included a reference to a
black juror’s alleged “support[]” for O.J. Simpson based on her response to the
0O.d. Simpson Question. 4RT:1043. The motion was ultimately denied without
respect to that justification, on the basis that there had been an insufficient
prima facie showing. 4RT:1045.

During the hearing, the prosecbutor revealed that he had recéntly attended
a prosecutorial conference on Batson issues, which provided guidance on how to
respond to Batson motions. 4RT:1039. One thing he had learned was to place on
the record, as a justification for his strikes, the fact that his jury selection
focused on picking a “cohesive group.” 4RT:1045. Neither “cohesive group”
selected by the prosecutor in either of the two trials included black seated jurors.

And this justification figured heavily during the second trial’s Batson hearing; it

2 ART:964 (strike of Effie Murray); 4RT:970 (strike of Claudia Wilson).
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was applied to every black juror stricken, regardless of whether their
shortcoming in “cohesiveness” was that they would be too much of a “leader” or
would simply be a “follower,” compare 8RT:2602 with 9RT:2697, whether they
were highly educated or had “limited” education, compare 8RT:2602 with 9RT
2704, or whether they possessed or lacked “involvement in the community.”
8RT:2616, 2620; see also Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1156 (“community involvement”
justification “rings false”).

B. The Batson Hearings at the Second Trial

In the second trial, as in the first, the prosecutor struck all black
prospective jurors who made it into the box. 9RT:2707; see Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at -
1146. In his first five strikes, the prosecutor quickly struck the first three black
jurors (Ms. Davis, Ms. Sam, and Mr. Dredd). 8RT:25565, 2578, 2590. This lead to
an initial Batson motion, which was denied after a hearing. 8RT:2590-620. The
prosecutor later stated an intention to strike the fourth black juror (Ms.
Kimbrough), resulting in another Batson hearing. 9RT:2696-2720. Althoﬁgh the
prosecutor did not strike Ms. Kimbrough until his eleventh peremptory — after
he had (temporarily) accepted the panel, 9RT:2696, 2720 — he later confessed
that he intentionally delayed striking her due to the “chilling effect” of the prior
Batson motion. 9RT:2698. As in the first trial, after cleansing the jury of blacks,

the prosecutor exercised no more peremptories. 9RT:2733.




In justifying his first three strikes, the prosecutor adopted what the
California Supreme Court described as a “laundry list’ approach,” Smith, 4 Cal.
5th at 1157, articulating approximately ten justifications per juror. See
8RT:2590-620. In explaining why he eliminated the final black juror, the
prosecutor was especially detailed: citing roughly 20 questionnaire responses
(many with multiple subparts) to justify his strike. 9RT:2696-2720; Smith, 4
Cal. 5th at 1159 (prosecutor gave “lengthy” explanation for challenge to Ms.
Kimbrough “occupying fully 10 pages of transcript”).8

The one justification upon which the prosecutor most consistently relied
was jurors’ responses to questions about O.J. Simpson. Of the six 5urors struck
from the box during the two trials, the prosecutor premised his strikes on black
jurors’ responses to questions relating to Q.J . Simpson five out of six times.
4RT:1043; 8RT:2594, 2699, 2603; 9RT:2700. All four strikes at issue in the
second trial were justified by, inter alia, references to O.J. Simpson.

The prosecutor stated that hié “main concern” with Ms. ADa.Vis Was that
she was purportedly “sympathetic” to O.J. Simpson. 8RT:2594. However, Ms.

Davis said nothing indicating sympathy to O.J. Simpson; she merely checked the

3 Although there were an exceedingly large number of justifications, there were also
an extraordinary number of flaws in these justifications, a fact acknowledged by the
California Supreme Court itself. See, e.g., Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1153 (several reasons for
excusing Ms. Sam “either lack record support or do not withstand comparison to the
prosecutor’s treatment of other jurors”); id. at 1154 (justifications for striking Mr. Dredd
“raise much the same difficulty: While some of the reasons were supported in the record,
others were not”); id. at 1161 (numerous responses cited by the prosecution for eliminating
Ms. Kimbrough were “innocuous from a prosecution perspective”).
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box indicating she was “not upset” with the verdict, explaining “I really don’t
know if he did it. I feel he know [sic] who did it, but I really don’t know.”
15:7thSCT:4321. Despite being his “main concern,” the prosecutor posed no
questions to Ms. Davis on this topic.

The prosecutor similarly relied on Mr. Dredd’s views on the Simpson case,
which he alleged were “extremely negative” and “pro OJ and anti[-]prosecution.”
8RT:2599. In fact, Mr. Dredd wrote only that coverage of the case taught him
what he “already knew” — that there are “many sides to a story” and that he was
not upset with the verdict because “I felt that their [sic] was doubt.”
10:7thSCT:2770, 2772 (Q.41(b) & Q.49.) Again, the prosecutor asked no
questions of Mr. Dredd on this topic.

The prosecutor also relied on Ms. Sam’s statements on the Simpson case:
that she was not upset because “if they didn’t prove he killed Nicole then the
verdict was faif, we should keep race out of it.” 8RT:2603; 17:7thSCT:4966.
Again, the 'prosecutor asked Ms. Sam no questions on this topic.

The prosecutor did ask Ms. Kimbrough questions regarding O.J. Simpson.
8RT:2585-86. After posing the questions in an uneventful exchange, the
prosecutor baselessly accused Kimbrough of lying in her responses, indicating

that she may have been “disingenuous” when she openly stated — as had several




other jurors — that she did not follow the case. 9RT:2700; see also, e.g., 4RT:9586,
1032; 8RT:2560.4
Although the prosecutor repeatedly voiced concern about black jurors’
purported sympathies for Mr. Simpson, he accepted no less than five non-black
| jurors who also state(i that they were “not upset” by the Simpson verdict.
225CT:6564 (Juror 86); 225CT:6597 (Juror 87); 28SCT:6682 (Juror 119);
24SCT:7026 (Juror 370); 24SCT:7156 (Juror 392). Of these, two (as well as one
altérnate), indicated that they were not upset by the Simpson verdict because of
the lack of sufficient proof.5
Black jurors were thus not alone in failing to be upset by the Simpson
verdict. However, it was clear from the questionnaires that the O.J. Simpson
Question was extremely raciélly divisive. Not a single oﬁe of the eight African-
American prospective jurors in the Venire stated that he or she was upset with

the Simpson verdict.® In contrast, almost half of the non-black seated jurors

4 Although Ms. Kimbrough had a tangential connection to O.J. Simpson (her
husband had played football for one season with Mr. Simpson during the 1970s but had no
further contact) 8RT:2586, the prosecutor claimed that he “simply cfouldn]'t” accept that she
did not follow the domestic violence aspect of the coverage because she served on a board of
an organization helping women surviving domestic violence. 9RT:2700. Aside from baldly
accusing Ms. Kimbrough of dishonesty, the prosecutor provided no explanation for why an
individual’s volunteer efforts for an organization which helped victims of violent crime would
not be favorable to the prosecution.

5 225CT:6695, 97 (Juror 87); 24SCT:7156 (Juror 392); 23SCT:6640 (Alternate 91).

¢ Beyond the four black jurors stricken by the prosecution at the second trial, there
were four additional black prospective jurors, two of whom never made it into the box and
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expressed displeasure at the verdict. 22SCT:6426; 22SCT:6512; 23SCT:6940;
235CT:6983; 225CT:6469; see also 24SCT:7069 (Juror 380 checking “yes” but
explaining “not really upset — just surprised on outcome”). This racial disparity
mirrored results of then-widely publicized information regarding the racial
divisiveness of the Simpson case among the American populace. See, e.g., CNN-
Time Magazine, Races disdgree'on impact of Simpson trial (October 6, 1995)

available at https:/www.cnn.com/US/0J/ daily/9510/10-

06/poll race/oj poll txt.html (last visited Dec. 14, 2018) (nearly 90% of Africah-

Americans felt that the Simpson jury “did the right thing,” while only 41% of
white Americans held the same position).

During the Batson hearing, the defense specifically objected to the
prosecutor’s repeated use of responses to questions about O.J. Simpson, arguing
that jurors’ opinions about O.J. Simpson were unrelated to the case and
“inappropriate” justifications for peremptories under Batson. 9RT:2610. The
trial court ignofed this contention, but ultimately denied thé motion,

The trial court had no problem with the strike of Ms. Davis. 8RT:2613.
The strikes of Dredd and Sam, however, posed a “much closer question.”
8RT:2613; see Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1158 (justifications for these jurors were

sufficiently flawed that they caused the trial court to “express[] substantial

one of whom was disqualified due to hearing problems. 9RT:2709. None were upset by the
Simpson verdict. 9:7thSCT:2600; 19:7thSCT:5654; 16:7thSCT:4579; 3:7thSCT:3:708.
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concerns about the prosecutor’s challenges” and voice “skepticism as to certain of
the offered reasons”).

Both Ms. Sam and Mr. Dredd had many characteristics which would seem
to favor the prosecution, and both supported the death penalty.”8 For these two
jurors, the trial court ultimately credited a single justification from the

prosecutor’s “laundry list”: the jurors’ statements which the prosecutor claimed

7 Sam stated that the death penalty was used “not enough,” a pro-prosecution
sentiment expressed by only two other seated jurors. 17:7thSCT:4974; see also 22SCT:6561;
24SCT:7163. She believed in “eye for an eye,” even “strongly” so in some cases.
17:7thSCT:4976. She opined that the death penalty should be imposed on everyone who
intentionally kills another human being and stated that she could not grant mercy in such a
case. 17:7TthSCT:4976-4977, 4982. Sam was not reluctant to either vote for death or face the
defendant and state this verdict. 17:7thSCT:4979. She thought that the benefit of a death
sentence would be that “criminals will think twice” before committing crimes.
17:7thSCT:4979. Sam also repeatedly stated that criminal laws were enforced too leniently,
17:7thSCT:4967, writing that laws should “be more strict especially for under 18 year olds”
because “they’re getting more dangerous than adults because they get off.” 17:7thSCT:4986.
Both death eligibility and aggravation introduced during the penalty phase centered on
alleged incidents of violence by petitioner which occurred when he was a minor. Sam
“strongly” agreed with the proposition that adult criminals “must be punished to the full
extent of the law, no matter how badly they were treated as children” and stated she would
not even take into consideration a criminal’s childhood experience in “order to understand
what may have influenced him later in life.” 17:7thSCT:4975. She stated that childhood
background should not be considered in deciding between a death sentence and LWOP,
volunteering that this type of mitigating evidence is “used too much lately.”
17:7thSCT:4976. As with many death penalty cases, childhood trauma and deprivation was
the focus of penalty phase mitigation by the defense.

8 Dredd had a close relative who worked for the Los Angeles County Sheriff.
10:7thSCT:2758. Dredd had supported the initiative to restore capital punishment in
California because he believed it would “deter serious crime” and would again vote to keep
the death penalty, if called to. 10:7thSCT:2779, 2782. He wrote that he would vote for death
in the appropriate case, which he believed was a practical and realistic possibility.
10:7thSCT:2780-2781. The prosecutor nonetheless (inaccurately) described Dredd as
“extremely weak on the death penalty.” 8RT:25695.
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showed a desire for “absolute” proof of guilt (hereinafter “lingering doubt
justifications”). 8RT:2620-2621.

The prosecutor’s characterization of the jurors’ responses on this topic was
subject to dispute: the trial court itself specifically stated that it “would not have
shared [the prosecutor’s] concern about Ms. Sam. . .. [or] Mr. Dredd.” 8RT:2614.
Nonetheless, it stated that “I will accept your concern” that the lingering doubt
justifications “were the factor that had you decided [sic] to exercise a peremptory
and that you were not racially motivated.” 8RT:2615 (emphasis added); see also
Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1152 (jurors’ purported receptivity to “lingering doubt”
argument was characteristic understandably “unfavorable to the prosecution”).

No argument about lingering doubt was ever presented at trial, or even
hinted at by the defense. Nor did anything in the facts of the case suggest that a
lingering doubt argument would feature at penalty. See Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at
1143-44 (summarizing the defense guilt case). Throughout the proceedings, the
State has characterized evidence of appellvant’s guilt as “overwhelming.” See
Smith; 4 Cal. 6th 1134, Respondent’s Brief, at 74, 87, 96-97.

ITI. The California Supreme Court Affirms, Despite Recognizing Many
Flaws In The Prosecutor’s Justifications

On May 21, 2018, the California Supreme Court affirmed Mr.
Smith’s conviction and sentence in their entirety. Smith, 4 Cal. 5th 1134.
Although rejecting the Batson claim, the opinion recognized that several of the

prosecutor’s justifications were flawed, noting repeatedly that the prosecutor’s
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justifications “either lack record support or do not withstand comparison to the
prosecutor’s treatment of other jurors.” See, e.g., Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1153
(discussing Ms. Sam); id. at 1154 (discussing Mr. Dredd). Other juror responses
cited as justifications by the prosecutor were characterized as “innocuous from a
prosecution perspective.” Id. at 1161 (discussing Ms. Kimbrough).

The California-Supreme 'Court nonetheless affirmed on the basis that
“[s]ome” of the reasons given by the prosecutor “find support” or at least “some
support” in the record.  See, e.g., Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1152-1153 (discussing Ms.
Sam); id. at 1156 (Mr. Dredd). The O.J. Simpson-based justifications were |
among those that found “some support.” Id. at 1153. Although its analysis of
these justifications was relatively cursory, the California Supreme Court cited
its past practice of affirming as “race-neutral” justifications focuéed on jurors’
views of the polarizing Simpson case. Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1153.

| REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT
I.  THE COURT SHOULD RESOLVE THE SPLIT OF AUTHORITY
CONCERNING THE PROPRIETY OF PROSECUTORS USING

RACIALLY CHARGED CHARACTERISTICS UNRELATED TO THE
CASE TO JUSTIFY STRIKING MINORITY JURORS

While the bulk of the prosecutor’'s many justifications for eliminating the
black jurors in this case were demonstrably pretextual, and thus inadequate to
defeat the claim at Batson’s third step, his use of the O.J. Simpson Question
betrays more fundamental issues regarding those strikes. Because the question

itself was racially charged, the answers it elicited did not properly support the
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showing required of the prosecutor at step two; on the contrary, the prosecutor’s
selective deployment of that biased question against black jurors was itself
affirmative proof of the discriminatory motive that Batson forbids.

As this Court has made clear, the second step of the Batson inquiry sets a
low bar: even “implausible or fantastic” justifications may suffice, so long as they
are race-neutral. Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 768 (1995). And though
relevant at the third stage, the mere fact that a justification results in the
“disproportionate exclusion of members of a certain race” generally does not
alone suffice to state a claim of discrimination. Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S.
352, 363 (1991) (plurality opinion).

Nonetheless, occasionally prosecutors’ justifications are so charged with
race that their “race-neutral” reasons fail to clear even the low hurdle of Batson's
second step. Virtually all state courts have given short shrift to prosecutors Qho
use strongly racially charged justifications to strike black jurors. Unfortunately,
some jﬁrisdictions (notably two of the country’s largest: Texas and California)
have repeatedly chosen to ignore this practice. And these courts’ decision to
avert their eyes from blatant proxies for race has had an obvious and avoidable
effect — encouraging prosecutors to use these same justifications again and again
in other cases. It is time for this Court to resolve the lopsided split of authority

on this issue.
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A. There Exists a Signficant Split of Authority on How to Address
Justifications for Eliminating Black Jurors that Are Based on
Racially Charged Characteristics

For good reason, a robust majority of lower courts have forbidden the
practice of eliminating black jurors based upon racially charged characteristics
unrelated to the case. For instance, the South Carolina Supreme Court found
that a prosecutor’s purported “uneasiness” over a black juror’s dreadlocks was
not a race-neutral justification. McCrea v. Gheraibeh, 380 S.C. 183, 187 (2008).
While at least hypothetically race-neutral, the Court.easily recognized the
undisguised discrimination: “dreadlocks retain their roots as a religious and
social symbol of historically black culture” and the justification thus failed at
Batson step two. Id. This same reasoning has been adopted in many states for a
variety of transparent racial proxies. See, e.g., Jessie v. State, 659 So. 2d 167,
169 (Ala. Crim. App. 1994) (veniremember’s residence in “high crime” area not a
valid race-neutral reason); Clayton v. State, 341 Ga. App. 193, 198 (2017) (a “full
mouth of 'gold teeth is a cultural proxy stereotypically associated with African-
Americans” and thus failed at step two); State v. Cook, 175 Wash. App. 36, 40
(2013) (alleged defense-bias premised upon juror’s use of the term “brother” to
refer to African-American attorney was “associated with racial ethnicity” and
thus an impermissible justification); People v. Pierrot, 289 A.D.2d 511, 512 (N.Y.
App. Div. 2001) (alleged sympathies toward black defendant because of

employment in affirmative action program failed at step two); State v. Coleman,
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970 So. 2d 511, 514-17 (La. 2007) (citation to black juror’s involvement in
discrimination suit coupled with reference to defendant’s race and defense
counsel’s voir dire on race was not race-neutral). Such justifications are not
simply inadequate, they affirmatively betray evidence of racial bias.

One particularly pernicious and recurring variation of this issue is the use
of justifications based on questions which gratuitously interject racial themes,
which are then used by prosecutors as a basis for peremptory challenges. Courts
in Florida and New York have directly rejected the use of racially divisive
questioning as a basis for strikes. T}ieir reasoning is that allowing such a
practice threatens to eviscerate Batson’s protections entirely.

Turnbull v. State, 959 So. 2d 275 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2006) rejected the
use of unnecessarily racially charged questioning as a basis for strikes. In
Turnbull, a questionnairé asked jurors repeatedly about the existence of “racial
profiling,” and responses were then used by the prosecution to justify the .
exclusion of four African-American juroi‘é. Id. at 276. The court accepted that a
“racial profiling inquiry may be relevant in voir dire, such as when a juror brings
up the subject of racial profiling, or when racial profiling is related to the defense
at trial.” Id. at 277. However, noting that the phrase “racial profiling” itself
“can be a term that engenders a visceral response,” and specifically becauée
“i'acial profiling did not bear any relevance to the case,” the court held that using

such questions to justify striking African-American jurors was not race-neutral.
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Id. at 277-278. The Florida court adopted a rule forbidding racially charged
questions to justify exclusion because the “logical extrapolation of allowing this
initial line of questioning is that attorneys will use irrelevant inflammatory
questions to incite jurors to respond” in a manner that justifies exclusion. Id. at
2178; see also Clark v. State, 601 So. 2d 284, 286 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1992) (juror's
‘predictable response to “provocative[]” questioning about police credibility
insufficient at step two: “counsel-instigated antagonism with a prospective juror”
will “not suffice as a race-neutral basis”); Brown v. State, 733 So. 2d 1128, 1131
(Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1999) (because of “widely held perception” arﬁong African-
Americans concerning the existence of racial profiling, inquiries concerning this
topic risk “singling the juror out for special questioning designed to evoke a
certain response”). |

New Yofk courts have followed the same rule. Thus, where the prosecutor |
excluded two black prospective jurors “solely based upon their answers to a race-
based ciuestion, i.e., whether theyr believed that police officers ‘unfairly farget
members of the minority community,” the court held that the prosecutor haci
failed to provide a race-neutral justification. People v. Mallory, 121 A.D.3d 1566,
1567 (N.Y. App. Div. 2014). The court found the question racially biased because
it “was unrelated to the facts of this case, which does not involve any allegation

of racial profiling” and the prosecutor and court were still able to ask “numerous
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race-neutral questions intended to ensure that the prospective jurors would
fairly assess the testimony of police witnesses.” Id. at 1567—-68.

Other courts have adopted similar reasoning. See State v. McRae, 494
N.W.2d 252, 257 (Minn. 1992) (supposed hostility to the ériminal justice system
not race-neutral where juror stated system was “generally fair” but later
expressed that there were “flaws” after “repeated invitations from the prosecutor
to find some fault with ‘the system.”); see also Coleman, 970 So. 2d at 515
(prosecutor violated Batson at step two where he “interjected the issue of race”).

In direct conflict with the above decisions, our nation’s two most populous
states, Texas and California, refuse to look beyond the surface of racially
charged jusﬁfications at Batson step two. Texas courts have endorsed the
practi_ée — also sanctioned by the California Supreme Court in appellantfs case
and other cases — of using questions about the racially divisive Simpson trial as
the basis for striking all blacks from the jury. Shelling v. State, 52 S.W.3d 213.
219-221 (Tex. App. 2001) (én banc). vIn Shelling, the prosecutor justified his total
exclusion of black jurors in part on several jurors’ alleged agreement with the
O.J. Simpson verdict. Over a sharp dissent, the court held that the justifications
were race-neutral, despite the “common knowledge that the Simpson trial had a
polarizing effect on the American public.” Shelling v. State, 52 S.W.3d 213, 220
(Tex. App. 2001); cf. id. at p. 225 (Mirabal, J., dissenting) (“We should not

sanction skirting around Batson by condoning the peremptory strike of a
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member of a particular minority based solely on one answer to one question

’ about which a vast majority of that minority have been demonstrated to agree”);
see also id. at 227 (Price, J., dissenting) (the Simpson “question and answer was
the easiest and most consistent method for the prosecutor accomplishing his
desired result’ of excluding blacks from the jury).

Lower court decisions condoning the use of racially charged questioning
have had significant and predictable consequences. Soon after the Shelling
decision, a training manual was disseminated to Texas prosecutors specifically

~ listing “Agreed with O.J. Simpson verdict” as a permissible race-neutral
justification. Gilad Edelman, Why Is It So Easy For Prosecutors To Strike Black
Jurors?, THE NEW YORKER (June 5, 2015). And numerous Texas cases have since
featured O.d. Simpson as the purportedly “race-neutral” justification for
excluding black jurors. Herbert v. State, No. 10-11-00290-CR, 2012 WL 1366576,
at *2 (Tex. App. <Apr. 18, 2012) (unpublished) (black juror’s statement in relation
to the Simpson case that “it’s gﬁilty until you're proven innocent”r served as
“race-neutral” justification); Craig v. State, No. 06-07-00038-CR, 2008 WL 89751,
at *3 (Tex. App. Jan. 10, 2008) (unpublished) (juror’s purportedly angry eye
contact when prosecutor asked panel whether “anyone thought O.J. was
innocent” was race-neutral); see also Manning v. Epps, 695 F.Supp.2d 323, 350-

352 (N.D. Miss. 2009) (finding race-neutral Mississippi prosecutor’s justifications
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that several black jurors read “Ebony” and “Jet” magazines, magazines the
prosecutor dubiously claimed “championed O.J. Simpson’s innocence”).

Like Texas, California has not only accepted the practice of strikes based
on racially charged questioning about the Simpson case, but has done so
repeatedly. This may explain why the California court didn’t even acknowledge
the racially fraught nature of the O.J. Simpson justifications in Mr. Smith’s case.
See Smith, 4 Cal. 6th at 1153 (finding the justification found “some support” in
the record because “[w]e have previously upheld challenges based on similar
reasons”). In fact, currently pending before the California Supreme Court is yet
another cai)ital case from the same county as appellant’s — but tried in 2000 — in
which all black jurors were stricken, and in which the prosecutor again relied on
answers to identical questions about the Simpson trial. Bob Egelko and Megan
Cassidy, ‘O.dJ. Strategy’: Lawyers Say Prosecutors Ask about Guilt to Cull Black
Jurors, SAN FRANCSCO CHRONICLE, November 4, 2018.

The practice of uéing answers concerning racially divisive topics td
exclude black jurors is by no means limited to questions concerning the O.d.
Simpson case. Every era in American history has had racially polarizing
moments. And whether these events garner national — or merely local —
attention, prosecutors have used them as a basis to justify excluding racial
minorities. See, e.g., Congdon v. State, 262 Ga. 683, 684 (1993) (justification that

prospective juror was resident of Ringgold and “black residents of Ringgold had
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harshly criticized the sheriff for his handling of another case” was not race-
neutral); cf. State v. Self, No. E201402466CCARS3CD, 2016 WL 4542412, at *36
(Tenn. Crim. App. Aug. 29, 2016) (unpublished) (although “the Trayvon Martin
case involved race-related issues” the prospective juror’s purported
dissatisfaction with the verdict in that case was a race-neutral justification);®
People v. Silas, No. A150512 (Cal. Ct. App. filed Feb. 9, 2017) (black juror
stricken based on support for Black Lives Matter movement).

The American jury acts “as a vital check against the wrongful exercise of
power by the State and its prosecutors” and the “intrusion of racial
discrimination into the jury selection process damages both the fact and the
perception of this guarantee.” Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 411 (1991). If the
promise of Batson is to have any force, this Court should grant review and
remind lower courts that questioning on racially polarizing topics unrelated to

the case is not a valid basis for peremptory challenges.

9 A black Florida teenager, Trayvon Martin, was killed by a white resident, George
Zimmerman, and the subsequent trial was widely publicized and highly controversial.
Jeffrey Billman, Yes, race did play a role in the Trayvon Martin case, ORLANDO WEEKLY,
July 16, 2013 (“Not since O.dJ. Simpson has a murder case so polarized America.” )
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B. This Case Presents a Ready Vehicle to Address the Spiit of Authority on
the Propriety of Using Racially Charged Justifications Unrelated to the -
Case

This is precisely the type of case in which appropriately identifying the
0.J. Simpson justifications as racially biased Would have the strong potential to
change the outcome.

Every court to look at this case has éxpressed doubt at the prosecutor’s
“laundry list” of justifications. As the California Supreme Court conceded, the
trial court itself voiced “skepticism as to certain of the offered reasons,” Smith, 4
Cal. bth at 1158, and this skepticism was reserved for the very jurors that the
trial court felt presented “much closer question[s].” 8RT:2613 (Mr. Dredd and
Ms. Samj. Yet despite “close questions” and doubts about the justifications, the
trial courf latched onto a single (highly questionable) reason among the
prosecutor’s “laundry list” as providing a race-neutral basis. 8RT:2615 (denying
the Batson claim as to Ms. Sam and Mr. Dredd solely based on the prosecutor’s
lingering doubt justifications).10

Many additional flaws overlooked by the trial court were identified.by the

California Supreme Court when it examined the “laundry list.” Specifically, as

10 A more fair reading of the record was that Ms. Sam and Mr. Dredd wanted to be
sure of guilt, not that they had any particular openness to a “lingering doubt” argument. Cf.
Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 11562. Nor is it likely that they even understood that arcane legal term.
The trial court’s statement that it did not “share[]” the prosecutor’s “concern” for either juror
confirms this reading. 8RT:2614. And there was no suggestion that lingering doubt would
even appear as a defense argument. Finally, Ms. Sam and Mr. Dredd’s expressed desire for
certainty of guilt in a death penalty case was a characteristic shared by a non-black juror
seated by the prosecution, a juror who was never even questioned on the topic. See infra.
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to the very two jurors who presented “much closer questions” for the trial court,
the California Slupreme Court stated that several reasons either “lack[ed] record
support or do not withstand comparison to the prosecutor’s treatment of other
jurors.” Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 11563, 1154.

Criﬁcally, if excusal based upon the racially divisive O.J. Simpson
Question was not race’-neutral, the California Supreme Court needed to resolve a
second, important question which almost certainly would have altered the
outcome. How should courts address cases in which race — at least in part —
played a role in the prosecution’s decision to strike a juror: so-called “mixed-
motive” cases? See Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1162 n.7 (declining to resolve the open
question of mixed-motives in Batson cases because it failed to discern any race-
conscious justifications). The mixed-motives question has led to a tangled knot
of conflicting, published opinions in both state and federal courts. Seé generally,
Russell D. Covey, The Unbearable Lightness.of Batson: Mixed Motives and
Discrimination in Jury Selection, 66 MD. L. REV. 279, 297-301 (2006) (collecting
and discussing conflicting tests).

While this Court could of course resolve the lower court split on mixed-
motives in Mr. Smith’s case, it need not do so. For the purpose of this petition, it
is enough to note that the mixed-motive question would likely be outcome
determinative. Although the California Supreme Court has yet to determine

which of the several available tests to apply to a case of mixed-motives in the

23




Batson context, Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1162 n.7, the test applied by lower
California courts is per se reversal. People v. Douglas, 22 Cal. App. 5th 1162,
1172-76 (Cal. Ct. App. 2018).

And even if a less stringent test applies, a mixed-motives analysis would
almost surely change the outcome. Both the trial court and reviewing court in
this case expressed doubts regardiﬁg numerous justifications. Moreover, black
jurors’ responses to the O.J. Simpson Question was not only a ubiquitous
justification, but it rose to the level of the prosecutor’s “main concern” — even for
the juror most plainly problematic to the prosecution. 8RT:2594. If the O.d.
Simpson issue was the prosecutors “main concern” and applied to every single
juror, it can hardly be characterized as an insubstantial factor in his decision-
making. See Snyder v. Louisiana, 5562 U.S. 472, 485 (2008) (Snyder) (declining . |
to resolve mi’xed-motives question, but assuming that peremptory strike shown
to be “motivated in substantial part by discriminatory intent could not be

sustained”).

II. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO RESOLVE THE
ACKNOWLEDGED SPLIT OF AUTHORITY REGARDING WHETHER
A REVIEWING COURT CAN DEFEAT COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS BY
MANUFACTURING REASONS NEVER ARTICULATED BY
PROSECUTORS IN ORDER TO JUSTIFY WHY SIMILARLY
SITUATED JURORS WERE SEATED

The instant case presents yet another important Batson issue that splits
lower courts and is ripe for resolution by this Court: Is it appropriate for a court

reviewing a Batson claim to bolster the prosecutor’s showing by picking out
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differences, not cited by the prosecutor at trial, between stricken and seated
jurors — particularly when those reasons were not voiced by the State on appeal?

A, The Instant Case Exemplifies the Latest Iteration of the
California Court’s Evasion of this Court’s Batson Jurisprudence

This Court has consistently recognized that a rigorous and methodical
review of the entirety of the record in evaluating a prosecutor’s credibility is
crucial to the vitality of Batson. See Miller-El v. Dretke,; 545 U.S. 231 (2005)
(Miller-El II); Snyder, 552 U.S. 472; Foster v. Chatman, 578 U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct.
1737 (2016) (Foster). In doing so, the Court has expressly recognized the critical
importance of examining whether the prosecutor’s justifications for striking
minority jurors applied with equal force to other jurors who were permitted to
serve. See, e.g., Miller-El IT, 545 U.S. at 241 (describing this approach as a tool
so “powerful” that it was more probative than a prosecutor’s decision to strike 10
of 11 black prospective jurors). This “comparative juror analysis” is merely an
expression of the core doctrine of equal protection; as Justice Kennedy observed,
the very “definition of discrimination” is “differential treatment of similarly
situated groups.” Olmstead v. L.C. ex rel. Zimring, 527 U.S. 581, 614 (1999)
(Kennedy, J., concurring).

For decades, however, the Supreme Court of California has resisted the
robust analysis employed by this Court in Batson cases, and has been
particularly hostile to the use of side-by-side comparisons of seated and stricken

jurors sharing the same allegedly undesirable characteristics. Although the
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California Supreme Court initially recognized the importance of this invaluable
tool (see People v. Trevino, 39 Cal. 3d 667 (1985)), in 1989 that Court (with a
different cohort of justices) made an abrupt about-face, holding that such an
approach put “undue emphasis” on comparisons which were “difficult, if not
impossible” for appellate courts to evaluate. People v. Johnson, 47 Cal. 3d 1194,
1221 (1989) (overruling People v. Trevino, supra). For more than a decade,
California all but forbade the use of comparative juror analysis in Batson cases
at every level of review, claiming that such comparisons were “one-sided” and
that it was “not realistic” to expect trial judges to engage in them. People v. Box,
23 Cal. 4th 1153, 1190 (2000).

In response to obvious conflict with this Court’s cases, the California
Supreme Court has tempered its statements, but has not changed its practice.
After this Court’s opinion in Miller-El I, the California court announced that
comparative juror analysis — though still “largely beside the point” — was “not
irrelevani.” People v. Johﬁson, 30 Cal. 4th 1302, 1323 (20"03) (emphasis in
original) reversed by Johnson v. California, 540 U.S. 1045 (2003). Recognizing
that the prior doctrine prohibiting all comparative analysis was clearly
untenable, the state supreme court first refashioned its rule into one forbidding
comparative analysis “for the first time on appeal” — claiming that the (newly

formulated) rule was exactly what it had been saying all along. People v.
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Johnson, 30 Cal. 4th at 1318-1325.11 Then, after this Court’s opinion in Miller-
El IT and Snyder rendered that approach indefensible, the state court grudgingly
endorsed appellate comparative analysis — but protested that it was an
“exceptionally poor medium to overturn a trial court’s factual finding.” People v.
Lenix, 44 Cal. 4th 602, 624 (2008).

Despite this reluctant theoretical acceptance of comparative juror
analysis, the California court has continued to find ways to derail its practical
application. The California Supreme Court has issued more published Batson
decisions than any other court in the country since its initial rejection of
comparative analysis in 1989.12 Yet over the course of those three decades, the
- gtate court has never found that a comparison between stricken and seated
jurors proved a prosecutor’s reasons were pretextual.!3 “[T]he nearly absolute

uniformity of results produced by [California Supreme Court’s] Batson

1 Cf. id. at 1331 (Kennard, J., dissenting) (explaining that this reinvention of prior caselaw was
unsupported).

12 See Appendix D.

13 Out of the 137 Batson decisions issued since 1989, California has found violations only three
times. People v. Silva, 25 Cal. 4th 345 (2001) was an extreme case “where the prosecutor, believing that
the jury in the first trial had ““hung.. . . on racial grounds,”” struck ail five Hispanic members of the venire
and “all but announced his desire not to have any Hispanic person serve on the second jury.” People v.
Harris, 57 Cal. 4th 804, 885 (2013) (Liu, J., concurring). In another case, the prosecutor was found to have
violated Batson only “a few months earlier” and then used “[ten] of his first 11 challenges” on black jurors:
leading one judge to remark that he “failed—or refused—to learn his lesson.” People v. Fuentes, 54 Cal. 3d
707, 712 (1991); id at 722 (Mosk, J., concurring). Most recently, the court reversed a case in which it found
comparative analysis unnecessary because the prosecutor’s asserted justification was completely
inexplicable. People v. Gutierrez, 2 Cal. 5th 1150, 1154-1175 (2017).
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jurisprudence is striking.” People v. Harris, 57 Cai. 4th 804, 886 (2013) (Liu, J.,
concurring).

The instant case illustrates the most recent device adopted by the
California court to vitiate comparative analysis. Mr. Smith’s case was the first
in over thirty years in which the court actually acknowledged that comparative
analysis undercut some of the prosecutor’s explanations. See Smith, 4 Cal. 5th
at 1153 (several reasons for excusing Ms. Sam “do not withstand comparison to
the prosecutor’s treatment of other jurors”); id. at 11567 & n.5 (complaints about
Mr. Dredd “undermined” by comparative analysis). However, each time that it
identified apparently similarly situated seated jurors whom the prosecutor
nonetheless accepted, the court cited differences between these jurors and
stricken jurors — differences that were never articulated by the prosecutor hor
noted by the trial court. Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1150, 11563 fn. 3, 1156, 1161.

The instant case presents a perfect exemplar of the state of Batson
jurisprudence in California., Reviewing courts are permitted — indeed are
required — to “scour the record for statements by the struck jurors that might
support the prosecutor’s explanations” even though “the prosecutor did not
specifically rely on any of the statements that the court cites[.]” People v.
Williams, 56 Cal. 4th 630, 721 (2013) (Liu, J., dissenting). Indeed, this case
takes the crippling of Batson analysis one step further. Because the California

Supreme Court found and relied upon distinctions between seated and stricken
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jurors never even articulated by the state’s appellate attorneys, Mr. Smith and
his attorneys learned of them for the first time reading that court’s opinion.
B. Lower Courts Conflict on the Propriety of Reviewing Courts

Inferring Distinctions Between Seated and Stricken Jurors
that Were Never Cited at Trial

In defending a prosecutor’s strikes of black jurors on appeal, the State
may not add new reasons upon Which' the prosecutor did not rely. “[A] prosecutor
simply has got to state his reasons as best he can and stand or fall on the
plausibility of the reasons he gives. A Batson challenge does not call for a mere
exercise in thinking up any rational basis.” Miller-El II, 545 U.S. at 2562. Given
that prosecutors must rest on reasons actually supplied (the “stand-or-fall
principle”), a “powerful” tool in ferreting out pretextual justifications is side-by-
side'compérisons of seated jurors who share the sfricken jurors’ allegedly
disqualifying characteristic. Id. at 241.

The application of these two principles — the “stand-or-fall” principle and
comparative juror analysis — has created a substantial split of authority. The
conflict arises because State attorneys have frequently sought to undercut the
persuasive force of comparative analysis by conceding that stricken and seated
jurors share the characteristic the prosecutor cited, but then arguing that seated
jurors possess other characteristics — never cited by the prosecution at trial —
that (they speculate) account for the differential treatment. See, e.g., Miller-El

II, No. 03-9659, Brief for Respondent at 19-20, 2004 W1, 2446199 at *19-20;
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Snyder, No. 06-10119, Brief for Respondent at 43, 2007 WL 3307731 at *43;
Foster, No. 14-8349, Brief for Respondent at 36-37, 2015 WL 5302540 at *36-37.
Miller El IT explicitly rejected this tactic. 545 U.S. at 245, n.4 (declining
to consider “other reasons” why nonblack panel members “who expressed views .
.. similar to [the stricken juror] were otherwise more acceptable to the
prosecution” because they “focus[] on reasons the prosecution itself did not
“offer.”); see also id. at 247, n.6 (a “rule that a defendant cannot win a Batson
claim unless there is an exactly identical white juror would leave Batson
inoperable; potential jurors are not products of a set of cookie cutters.”) Thus,
most state and federal courts have conducted comparative analysis without
relying on hypothetical distinguishing characteristics of seated jurors not cited
by the prosecutor. See, e.g., Green v. LaMarque, 532 F.3d 1028, 1030 (9th Cir.
2008) (“Two jurors do not have to have all the same characteristics to be
similarly situated.”); United States v. Torres-Ramos, 536 F.3d 542, 559 (6th Cir.
2008) (“it is not necessary to show that the excluded venire panelist was
similarly situated to a white potential juror in all respects”); Davis v. Fisk Elec.
Co., 268 S.W.3d 508, 519 (Tex. 2008) (shared characteristics between seated and
stricken jurors “suggest that the stated reason . .. was pretextual”); State v.
McFadden, 191 S.W.Sd 648, 654 (Mo. 2006) (accord); Sharp v. State, 151 So. 3d
342, 388 (Ala. Crim. App. 2010) (“the likelihood of two potential jurors sharing

all the same characteristics and having no differences at all is remote, at best,
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which is why such a view has been expressly rejected by the United States
Supreme Court.”); Broady v. Com., 16 Va. App. 281, 285 (1993) (if the state does
not provide a ground for distinguishing seated jurors at trial, the fact that a
particular “reason asserted for the strike is equally applicable to other members
of the venire of a different race” is “not a satisfactory race-neutral explanation”).
One federal jurisdiction, h.owevér, recently joined California in rejecting
this majority approach. Chamberlin v. Fisher, 885 F.3d 832 (6th Cir. 2018) (en
banc) (Chamberlin).” The Fifth Circuit circumvented the stand-or-fall principle
by a simple act of “repackaging” — what was once “a new reason for striking the
black jurors is now a new reason for keeping the white juror.” Id. at 853 (Costa,
J., dissenting) (collecting federal cases which contradict approach adopted by ’;he
Fifth Circuit majority). The tactic applied by the Fifth Circuit in Chamberlin' is
a familiar one in California, which has long discounted comparative analysis by
inferring grounds of distinction never set forth by the prosecutor. People v.
Willidms, 56 Cal. 4th at 721 (Liu, J., dissenting). Indeed, thé Célifornia
Supreme Court has taken tactical evasion of comparative analysis to yet another
level, holding that compared jurors must have “expressed ‘a substantially
similar combination of responses,’ in all material respects, to the jurors excused.”
People v. Winbush, 2 Cal. 5th 402, 443 (2017) (emphasis in original). This
embellishment in California’s caselaw is in direct conflict with this Court’s

admonition that potential jurors are not products of “cookie cutters.” Miller-El
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II, 545 U.S. at 247, fn. 6; cf. People v. Winbush, 2 Cal. 5th at 490 (Liu, J.,
concurring) (California doctrine contradicts High Court precedent on this point).
The prosecutor’s “kitchen sink” approach in Mr. Smith’s case — in which
he propounded fully a dozen bases for excusing a single juror — exposes the folly
of this approach. It would be highly unlikely (to say the least) for any two jurors
to have shared all of the characteristics cited by the prosecutof — much less for
them to have additionally shared all of the other purported distinguishing points
culled: from the record by the reviewing court. Ifall prosecﬁtors need to evade
rigorous comparative analysis is numerous justifications, they will be more than

happy to oblige. See Karen Nelson, Batson Basics (2004) at 26, available at

https://www.themarshallproject.org/documents/2461886-batson-basics (last
ﬁsited Dec. 14‘, 2018) (training manual urging Texas prosecutors fo “give
multiple reasons” because “multiple reasons may save a case under a dual
motivatién theory”); but cf. Foster v. Chatman, __U.S. ___, 136 S. Ct. 1737, 1748
(2016) (criticizing prosecutor’s “laundry list of reaéons”). Yet despite this Court’s
customary practice of applying comparative analysis to given justifications (and
not combinations of justifications), other courts have begun to follow the same
dubious path as California. People v. Beauvais, 393 P.3d 509, 525 (Colo. 2017)
(“female potential jurors exhibited unique combinations of traits that materially
distinguished them from the empaneled male jurors”); cf. id.at 528 (Marquez, J.,

dissenting) (“Foster plainly rejects this approach”).
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C. This Case Presents an Appropriate Vehicle to Clarify the
Proper Application of Comparative Analysis

The trial court itself recognized that this case presented a “close[]
question.” 8RT:2613. For its part, the reviewing court acknowledged that the
prosecutor’s reasons for striking the bléck jurors were often flawed: 1acking
support in the record, logic, or comparison with the views of seated jurors.
Examining only the flaws conceded by the state high court demonstrates that
they existed for each and every stricken juror. See, e.g., Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at
1149, 1151, 1153-1154, 1161. This is just the sort of case in which a proper
analysis would impact the outcome.

Moreover, the California Supreme Court applied precisely the same
flawed techniques enumerated above to Mr. Smith’s case in order to dismiss his
comparative analysis. When it wished, the court took the opportunity to comb
through the questionnaires itself for points not raised by the prosecufor. But it
repeatedly failed to perform comparative analysis regarding the most fraught
justifications of them all: those prerhised on the O.J. Simpson Question. These
justifications failed comparative analysis spectacularly.

The prosecutor again and again cited black jurors’ views on the Simpson
case. Yet at the same time he willingly accepted juror after juror who expressed
similar views — so long as they were not black. Almost half of the jurors
accepted by the prosecutor were not upset with the Verdict in the Simpson case.

supra at p. 9-10. Yet a reader of the opinion below would have no idea of this.
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The state court simply ignored fhis powerful evidence of pretext. Instead, that
court rested acceptance of Simpson-based strikes on the slender reed that it had
previously found such justifications “race-neutral,” or by simply reciting the
stricken juror’s answers. Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1148, 1153, 1156.

While the court below repeatedly failed to conduct comparative analysis
when doing so would expose pretextr, when it did perform such analysis, it did so
with an eye towards dismissing its relevance. The Célifornia court provided
grounds for distinguishing seated jurors that the prosecutor — and even the
state’s attorneys — did not voice. For instance, the California high court
dismissed a comparison between Ms. Sam and Juror 47 who, like Ms. Sam,
wished to be completely sure of guilt prior to rendering a death sentence.
Compare 17:7thSCT:4972 (Q. 76) (Ms. Sam’s “general feelings” toward the death
penalty were “I'm for [the death penalty] but we must absolutely prove guilt”),
4974 (Q. 79) (Ms. Sam’s statement death appropriate “If it can be proven without
a doubt by évidence the crime was committed.”)"with 22 SCT 6476 (Q. 74) (Juror
47's statement that death should not be considered unless the jury is “absolutely
sure of guilt.”) (emphasis in original)). Ignoring Juror 47’s lukewarm death
penalty views!t and the enormous number of strongly pro-prosecution

sentiments held by Ms. Sam, see supra, fn.6, the California Supreme Court

14 998CT:6475 (Q. 76) (in explaining her “general feelings” on the death penalty,
Juror 47 voiced “mixed feelings” and pointed to the dysfunction of the California death
penalty which “doesn’t seem to be carried out too often.”)
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discounted the comparison for this “lingering doubt” justification. Its reasoning:
in Question 79, where Ms. Sam demanded solid proof of guilt for a death
sentence, Juror 47 had responded that she would apply the penalty based upon
“the evidence presented — not my opinion about punishment.” Smith, 4 Cal. 5th
at 1152. But the state court raised this distinction without any adversarial
briefing to aid it. Because of this fx‘oubling practice, it overlooked the fact that
Ms. Sam had said exactly the same thing in her questionnaire. See
17:7thSCT:4982 (she could “absolutely” set aside her “personal opinion on
punishment and render a verdict based solely on the evidence” — “that’s the
whole idea of a fair trial and jury”)(emphasis in original).

A similarly flawed approach was used in analyzing the strike of Mr.
Dredd, a juror who had a close relative in law enforcement and who had
supported the initiative to restore capital punishment in California. See supra
fn.7. Mr. Dredd, like Ms. Sam and Juror 47, had asserted that he wanted solid
proof of guilt, writing that “care should be used in senténcing someone to death.
Their [sic] should be no doubt.” He later reiterated the point: “I feel that the
death penalty should be used in extreme cases where their [sic] is no doubt.”
Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1155; ¢f. Miller-El II, 545 U.S. at 258 (similar responses
showed that juror was “unambiguously in favor” of the death penalty). When
the topic arose in voir dire, Mr. Dredd initially reiterated that he would want

“absolute proof”’ of guilt for a death verdict. Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1155. But after
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the prosecutor explained to Mr. Dredd that “the prosecution need only present
proof beyond a reasonable doubt, not absolute proof,” Mr. Dredd immediately
confirmed that he could accept the reasonable doubt standard. Id.; 8RT:2582.
The California Supreme Court defeated comparison of Mr. Dredd to Juror
47 by reinventing the prosecutor’s justification. The prosecutor only cited
Dredd’s questionnaire. 8RT:2595,2599, 2605. But to the Califorhia Supreme
Court, it was the édditional fact that Mr. Dredd “repeated[]” the views in his
questionnaire in voir dire (notably, because Mr. Dredd was asked to do so by the
pro_secutor)‘. Smith, 4 Cal. bth at 1155; 8RT:2582. Yet the prosecutor never
brought up voir dire, presuinably because in voir dire Mr. Dredd immediately
accepted the prosecutor’s explanation that only proof beyond reasonable doubt is
required. Id. And the prosecutor’s “lingeﬁng doubt” justification was not merely
one factor among many: it was the reason the trial court credited as “the factor”
rendering strikes of Ms. Sam and Mr. Dredd “not racially motivated.” 8RT:2615.
By allowing itself to sift through the record for differences not arﬁculated by the
prosecutor, the lower court was thus able to dismiss comparative analysis on the
key justification upon which the trial court grounded its finding of no pretext.
Equally important, had Mr. Smith’s counsel been presented with an -
opportunity to respond to the points of differentiation hypothesized by the
California Supreme Court, he would have had a powerful response: the

California Supreme Court’s conjectures conflicted with the actual grounds to
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distinguish similarly situated seated jurors presented by the prosecutor at trial.
See 8RT:2620 (prosecutor’s actual grounds for distinguishing seated and stricken
jurors — they were “less confused or had less conflict in their various answers”
about the death penalty).

The disjuncture bet\ween the state court’s opinion and the prosecutor’s
own words exposes an obvious danger in appellate courts’ speculating about
grounds to distinguish similar jurors when those grounds were not provided
below. In doing So, courts risk fabricating differences that never even occurred
to prosecutors when making the record on which they are supposed to stand or
fall. This practice runs afoul of a central Batson principle: “It does not matter
that the prosecutor might have had good reasons [for eliminating minority
jurors]; . . . what matters is thé real rreason they were stricken.” thnson v.
California, 545 U.S. 162, 172 (2005) (citation omitted). Because the issue of how
to properly conduct comparative analysis deeply divides courts across the
country, this Court should intervene to chart a proper course.

III. THIS PETITION RAISES ISSUES WHICH WILL LIKELY SOON BE
DECIDED BY THIS COURT IN FLOWERS V. MISSISSIPPI

This Court has granted certiorari in Flowers v. Mississippi, No. 17-9572,
__S.Ct. ___, 2018 WL 3159779 (Nov. 2, 2018) (Flowers) to assess Curtis
Flowers’s claim that the prosecutor in his case illegally eliminated African-

American prospective jurors on the basis of race. Numerous similarities between
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the legal issues in Mr. Smith’s case and Mr. Flowers’s case militate in favor of
holding this case pending resolution of Flowers.

A central feature in Mr. Flowers’s case is evidence that the prosecutor had
repeatedly stricken black jurors from the jury in prior trials of the same
defendant, and that the lower court had given insufficient weight to this
evidence. See Flowers v. Mississippi, No. 17-9572, Petition for Certiorari at i.,
2018 WL 4929890 at *1 (original Question Presented). Although the pattern in
Mr. Flower’s case was particularly egregious, the prosecutor in Mr. Smith’s case
also struck all black prospective jurors from the jury in consecutive trials against
Mr. Smith. And the California Supreme Court, like the Mississippi court,
refused to give due consideration (or indeed any consideration) to this evidence.
The California Supreme Court did not acknowledgs anywhere in its obinion that
there even was a prior Batson motion against the prosecutor in the first trial, or
that he had repeatedly eliminated all seated black jurors in this interracial
murder case. Because this Court Willrlikely give guidance on how lower courts
should assess such patterns of targeting black jurors, a remand may be
appropriate to allow the California Supreme Court an opportunity to veevaluate
its decision in light of this Court’s resolution of the issue..

In addition, the Mississippi Supreme Court in Flowers repeatedly violated
the tenets of comparative juror analysis laid forth in this Court’s Batson

jurisprudence and discussed above with respect to Mr. Smith’s case. For
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example, the Mississippi Court discounted Mr. Flowers’s comparative analysis |
because one of thé allegedly undesireable characterstics shared by numerousﬂ .
seated jurors was “not the sole reason given by the State” to excﬁse a particular
juror. Flowers v. State, 240 So. 3d 1082, 1126 (Miss. 2017); cf. Miller El II, 545
U.S. at 245, n.4, (a rule requiring “exactly identical white juror[s]” would “leave
Batson inoperable”); People v. Winbush, 2 Cal. 5th at 490 (Liu, J., concurring)
(noting that California doctrine on this pbint contradicts controlling Supreme
Court authority). As discussed above, thg California Supreme Court in Mr.
Smith’s case repeatedly discounted the fact that identical characteristics were
shared by seated and stricken jurors by pointing to the existence of other,
allegedly undesireable, characteristics supposedly unique to the stricken jurors.
A remand may be appropriate so that thé California high court can correctly
implerrient its flawed comparative juror analysis in light of the Flowers decision.
Finally, Mr. Flowers’s case, like Mr. Smith’s, involves numerous instances
in which the justification proffered by the prosecutdr were demonstrably false.
See, e.g., Flowers v. State, 240 So. 3d 1082, 1133 (Miss. 2017) (acknowledging
that multiple justifications tendered were “not supported by the record”). Much
like the lower court in Flowers, the California Supreme Court was forced to
concede that multiple justifications given by the prosecutor were simply untrue.
Smith, 4 Cal. 5th at 1153 (multiple justifications for Ms. Sam “lack record

support” and failed comparative analysis); id. at 1154 (prosecutor’s reasons for
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striking Mr. Dredd. “raise much the same d'ifficulty”). It is likely that the
Flowers decision will provide lower courts with direction on how to assess
justifications which plainly contradict the record. Remand therefore may be
appropriate. At this juncture, Mr. Smith requests a grant and hold pending
resolution of the Flowers case.
CONCLUSION

Wherefore, petitioner prays that this Court grant the petition for a writ of

certiorari and reverse the judgment of the Supreme Court of Califbrnia.

Dated: December 14, 2018

Respectfully submitted,

MARY K. MCCOMB
California State Public Defender

ELIAY B&FCHELDER
SeniokPeputy State Public Defender
Counsel of Record

1111 Broadway, Suite 1000
Oakland, California 94607
elias.batchelder@ospd.ca.gov
Tel: (510) 267-3300

Counsel for Petitioner -
Floyd Daniel Smith )

40




APPENDIX A
People v. Smith, No. S065233
California Supreme Court Slip Opinion

May 21, 2018

41




SUPREME COURT
FILED
MAY 91 2018

COPY | Jorge Navarrete Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA Peputy

Super. Ct. No. FWV08607
Defendant and Appellant,

THE PEOPLE, )
, )
Plaintiff and Respondent, )
) S065233

V. )
)

FL.OYD DANIEL SMITH, ) San Bernardino County
)
)
)

A jury convicted defendant Floyd Daniel Smith of one count of first degree
murder (Pen. Code, § 187), and found true an alleged special circumstance that he
committed the murder while lying in wait (id., § 190.2, subd. (a)(15)). The jury
also convicted defendant of two counts of attempted voluntary manslaughter (id.,
§§ 664, 192, subd. (a)), two counts of first degree burglary (id., § 459), and one
count each of assault with a firearm (id., § 245, subd. (a)(2)), false imprisonment
(id., § 236), and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (id., former § 12021,
subd. (a)(1)). As to all but the last charge, the jury found firearm use enhancement
allegations to be true (id., § 12022.5). At the special circumstance phage, the jury
found true a second special circumstance-—that defendant had a prior murder
conviction (id., § 190.2, subd. (a)(2)).

At the penalty phase, the jury returned a verdict of death, This appeal is
automatic. (Pen. Code, § 1239, subd. (b).) We affirm the judgment in its entirety,




L. FACTS

A. Guilt Phase Evidence

Defendant was convicted of the murder of Joshua Rexford. The
prosecution argued that defendant committed the murder in retaliation for the
murder of defendant’s close friend, Manuel Farias.

1. Prosecution’s case

On November 23, 1994, Linda Farias attended the funeral of her brother
Manuel, After the funeral, she overheard defendant conversing with three other
men. Although Linda could not remember who said what, defendant did most of
the talking. In the conversation, the men said that “Brian” killed Farias, that
“Josh” was Brian’s cousin, and that “they were going to get throﬁgh him to find
Brian.” Within a day or two of the funeral, defendant had a conversation with
Troy Holloway. Defendant questioned Holloway about Joshua Rexford, who, like
Holloway, played on the football team at A.B. Miller High School in Fontana.
Defendant asked how Rexford was, what he was like, where he lived, and where
he hung out, explaining that he wanted to talk to Rexford.

On the morning of November 27, four days after the funeral, Michael
Honess saw defendant and a Hispanic man sitting on a wall in the back of
Honess’s apartment complex in Rancho Cucamonga. Later that morning, Honess
again saw defendant, now alone, sitting on the stairs adjacent to Honess’s third
floor apartment. Defendant asked if he could use the telephone in Honess’s
apartment to call his mother. Honess allowed him to do so, but instead of calling
his mother, defendant called a directory service and requested the number of the
Church of God in Christ. He called the number he received from the diréctory
setvice but did not appear to speak to anyone. He then left Honess’s apartment.

Ten minutes later, defendant knocked on Honess’s door, Honess opened

the door and walked back into his apartment, assuming that defendant wanted to
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make another call. As Honess walked away, defendant, holding a dark gray or
black automatic pistol, grabbed him and pushed him onto his hands and knees.
Two other men then entered the apartment: the Hispanic man Honess had
previously seen with defendant and a White man whom defendant called “Jay,”
who was carrying a sawed-off shotgun, Defendant told Jay to look through the
blinds out the window and to search for telephones in the apartment. He wiped off
Honess’s tvslepﬁone with a paper towel and cut the telephone wire. The Hispanic
man took some of Honess’s money, but defendant told him to put it back.

After 15 to 20 minutes, the three men left Honess’s apartment; defendant
told Jay to wait in the car. Before leaving, defendant told Honess that  ‘someone
has done something bad’ * and that when Honess spoke to the police he should
“tell the truth.”

Defendant then went downstairs to the apartment of Maikolo (“Walter”)
Pupua, who was seated in the living room with Ndibu (“Freddie”) Badibanga and
Joshua Rexford. He knocked on the door and Badibanga told him to enter. He
opened the door and immediately opened fire with what appeared to be a nine-
millimeter pistol. Pupua dove behind a speaker in the corner of the room, while
Badibanga crawled to the bedroom and jumped out a window. Badibanga saw a
second man accompanying defendant; Pupua saw only defendant, but inferred that
there was a second gunman from the large number of shots (“at least about 15 or
16%) that were fired,

Rexford, who was struck five times, died as a result of gunshot wounds in
his chest and abdomen. “[L]arge caliber bullets . . . approximately nine
millimeters in diameter” were recovered from his body. Seven cartridge cases
wete recovered from the scene of the shooting, six of which had been fired and
belonged to nine-millimeter cartridges, One cartridge, a “.25 caliber auto,” was

unfired.




That evening, defendant and two men came to the home of Troy Holloway.
Defendant gave Holloway a nine-millimeter pistol, which was unchambered but
loaded with four bullets. He did not charge Holloway for the gun, but told him
that “a real man never shows anybody what he got.” About three or four days
later defendant called Patrick Wiley and asked him to retrieve the gun from
Holloway. Wiley did so, returning the gun to defendant.

2. Defense case

The defense conceded that defendant was present at the scene of the
murder, but claimed he was not there of his own free will. Testifying on 'his own
behalf, defendant claimed that the night before the murder, three men kidnapped
him and held him in his apartment overnight. The next day, they took him to an
apartment comﬁlex, where they “loaf[ed] around . . . for a long time.” Defendant
spoke to Honess and used his telephone to call his church, As Honess was statting
to leave the apattment, defendant saw two of his kidnappers, a Hispanic male and
a White male, approaching Honess’s doorway. Fearing that the White male was
going to start shooting because defendant was not sitting on the stairs, as his
kidnappers had instructed him, defendant grabbed Honess’s arm and pulled him to
safety.

According to defendant, he and his kidnappers then waited in Honess’s
apartment. Defendant eventually left with the Hispanic kidnappet, while the
White kidnapper went down a different flight of stairs. The Hispanic kidnapper
took defendant to Pupua’s apartment. When they entered the apartment, the
Hispanic kidnapper began shooting,.  Defendant claimed he ttied to run away but
got stuck between the door and a wall. Eventually he exited the apartment and ran
to the apartment’s parking lot, with the Hispanic kidnapper behind him.

Defendant and the three kidnappers then got into defendant’s car and drove some




distance before they parked. A white truck approached. The kidnappers exited
defendant’s car-and told defendant he could leave. They departed in the truck.,

Defendant denied giving a gun to Troy Holloway. He also denied making
the statements attributed to him by Linda Farias at the funeral of her brother
Manuel.
| 3. Jury verdict

The jury convicted defendant of murdering Rexford and found a
lying-in-wait special circumstance to be true. With respect to the attempted
murder charge, the jury convicted defendant of the lesser included offense of
attempted voluntary manslaughter, The jury also convicted defendant of
burglarizing Honess’s apartment and falsely imprisoning him, of burglarizing
Pupua’s apartment, and of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and it
found firearm use enhancements to be true as to all but the last offense. The jury
acquitted defendant of a charge that he dissuaded a witness.

B. Special Circumstance Phase Evidence

The prosecution presented a fingerprint card, a Riverside County Superior
Court minute ordet, and California Youth Authority records showing that on July
13, 1984, defendant pleaded guilty to first degree murder, for which he was
incarcerated in the Youth Authority. Defendant was 16 years old when he
committed the murder.

C. Penalty Phase Evidence

The prosecution presented evidence that on January 27, 1984, when
defendant was 16 years old, he accosted Felton M. at gunpoint, forcing him to take
defendant to his house and to engage in sexual acts. Defendant then took Felton to
a field, forced him to remove his clothes, and left with his wallet, warning that

defendant would kill him if he said anything.




The néxt day, defendant shot and killed Virgil Fowler. In a statement to the
police after the shooting, defendant said he was with Orlando Hunt and Calvin
Wade when Hunt told him to rob Fowler, who was walking towards them.
Defendant drew his gun, told Fowler to lie on the ground, and told Hunt to look
through Fowler’s pockets. When Fowler got up and began to run, defendant
fatally shot him.

Joshua Rexford’s mother testified that after the jury left the courtroom at
the end of the guilt phase, defendant simulated a pistol with his fingers and

“‘you’re 50

pointed the “finger-pistol” in her direction. She told him,
disrespectful’ *; defendant replied that she was a “ “fucking bitch,”

The defense presented evidence that defendant’s mother was a sex worker
who used drugs and alcohol and smoked cigarettes while pregnant with defendant.
During that time she was prescribed antipsychotic and antidepressant medication
and suffered a severe dystonic reaction during the sixth or seventh month of
pregnancy, causing her to fall and suffer physical trauma to her uterus. Forensic
psychiatrist David Glaser testified that these chemical and physical traumas could
have adversely affected the development of defendant’s brain,

According to defense witnesses, defendant had no relationship with his
father and his mother was neglectful and physically abusive. Defendant was
severely abused, physiCaIly and sexually, by his older brother George, who forced
defendant to orally copulate him on repeated occasions over a period of years and
who burned defendant’s genitals with a hot iton when he was a young child.

" When defendant wis 13 years old, he was made a ward of the state. He
thereafter had only brief negative interactions with his mother and was placed in
six or seven foster homes between the ages of 13 and 17. Dr. Glaser testified that

defendant’s history of neglect, abandonment, and abuse changed him from a

passive, chronic victim into “a chronic, active perpetrator.” Dr. Glaser opined that
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the abuse and abandonment caused dc;fendant to suffer from displaced rage and
exireme narcissism. |
The defense presented evidence that defendant worked on behalf of New
Life Ministries for “a few months” to help establish a community-based, youth-
oriented church by engaging in recruitment and acting as a driver. Defendant’s
four-year-old son testified that he enjoyed visits with his father.
II. DISCUSSION

A. Pretrial Issues

1. Trial court’s denial of defendant’s Batson/Wheeler motions

Defendant, who is Black, argues that he was deprived of his constitutional
rights to equal protection and a representative jury because the prosecutor
exercised peremptory challenges té exclude Black prospective jurors. (See Batson
v, Kentucky (1986) 476 U.S. 79 (Batson), People v. Wheeler (1978) 22 Cal.3d 258
(Wheeler).) During jury selection, after the prosecutor used three of his first five
peremptory challenges to excuse Prospective Jurors Sandra D., Reginia S.,1 and
Huey D, all of whom are Black, defendant made a Batson/Wheeler motion. The
trial court found that the defense had made a prima facie showing that the
challenges were based on group bias, but it denied the motion after the prosecutor
gave his reasons for the challenges. The prosecutor thereafter struck five non-~
Black jurofs aﬁd on three occasions accepted the panel. But when the defense
passed the challenge for the first time, the prosecutor asked to approach the bench
and announced that he intended to strike the sole remaining Black juror, Elizabeth

K., whereupon the defense made a second Batson/Wheeler motion. The court

1 The record contains references to both “Reginia S.” and “Regina S.” For
the sake of consistency, we use the first spelling,




again found that the defense had made a prima facie showing, and again denied
the motion after the prosecutor explained the challenge.

Apart from the four jurors challenged by the prosecution, there were at least
_ three and possibly five Black prospective jurors remaining in the venire when the
parties began to exercise their peremptory challenges. One of these was later
excused because of a hearing problem, and the others were never called. Asa
result, the panel that tried defendant’s case included no Black jurors. Defendant
" now contends that the trial court erred Wheﬂ it denied his Batson/Wheeler motions.

“[A] party may exercise a peremptory challenge for any permissible reason
or no reason at all” (People v. Huggins (2006) 38 Cal.4th 175, 227) but
“gxercising peremptory challenges solely on the basis of race offends the
Fourteenth Amendment’s guaranty of the equal protection of the laws” (id. at
p. 226; see generally Batson, supra, 476 U.S. 79). Such conduct also “violates the
right to trial by a jury drawn from a representative cross-section of the community
under article I, section 16, of the California Constitution.” (Wheeler, supra, 22
Cal.3d at pp. 276-277.)

“A three;step procedure applies at trial when a defendant alleges
discriminatory use of peremptory challenges. First, the defendant must make a
prima facie showing that the prosecution exercised a challenge based on
impermissible criteria. Second, if the trial court finds a prima facie case, then the
prosecution must offer nondiscriminatory reasons for the challenge. Third, the
trial court must determine whether the prosecution’s offered justification is
credible and whether, in light of all relevant circumstarces, the defendant has
shown purposeful race discrimination. [Citation.] ‘The ultimate burden of
petsuasion regarding [discriminatory] motivation rests with, and never shifis from,

the [defendant].” ” (People v. Manibusan (2013) 58 Cal.4th 40, 75.)




Here, the trial court found that defendant had satisfied the first of these
steps by making a prima facie showing of group bias, and it evaluated the
prosecutor’s reasons for the challenges. When this occurs, the adequacy of the
prima facie showing becomes moot (Hernandez v. New York (1991) 500 U.S. 352,
359, People v. Elliott (2012) 53 Cal.4th 535, 560-561), and the reviewing court
skips to the third stage to determine whether the trial court properly credited the
prosecutor’s reasons for challenging the prospective jurors in question (Elliott,
supra, at p. 561; People v. Riccardi (2012) 54 Cal.4th 758, 786-787).

While still relevant, the statistical showing that motivated the finding of a
prima facie case is not dispositive at this third stage. Rather, “[alt the third stage
of Batson, the ‘critical question . . . is the persuasiveness of the prosecutor’s
justification for his peremptory strike,” (Miller-El v. Cockrell (2003) 537 U.S.
322, 338-339.) Usually, ‘the issue comes down to whether the trial court finds the
prosecutor’s race-neutral explanaﬁons to be credible. Credibility can be measured
by, among other factors, the prosecutor’s demeanor; by how reasonable, or how
improbable, the explanations are; and by whether the proffered rationale has some
basis in accepted trial strategy.” (Id. at p. 339.) ‘ “As with the state of mind of a
juror, evaluation of the prosecutor’s state of mind based on demeanor and
credibility lies ‘peculiarly within a trial judge’s province.” ”* (Ibid)) Thus, in
reviewing a trial court’s reasoned determination that a prosecutor’s reasons for
striking a juror are sincere, we typically defer to the trial court and consider only
‘whether substantial evidence supports the trial court’s conclusions.” (People v.
Lenix (2008) 44 Cal.4th 602, 627 (Lenix).)” (People v. Banks (2014) 59 Cal.4th
1113, 1146.)

“[Olne form of circumstantial evidence that is relevant, but not necessarily
dispositive, on the issue of intentional discrimination” is a comparison of the

treatment of an excused juror with other similarly situated jurors. (Lenix, supra,




44 Cal4th at p. 622.) “[E]vidence of comparative juror analysis must be
considered . . . even for the first time on appeal if relied upon by the defendant [if]
the record is adequate to permit the urged comparisons.” (Ibid) But when, as
here, a defendant “wait[s] until appeal to argne comparative juror analysis,” our
“review is necessarily circumscribed;"’ and we “need not consider responses by
stricken panelists or seated jurors other than those identified by the defendant.”
(Id. atp. 624.) We review the trial court’s ruling on the question of purposeful
racial discrimination under a deferential substantial evidence standard, so long as
“ ‘the trial court has made a sincere and reasoned attempt’ ” to evaluate each
nondiscriminatory justification offered. (People v. McDermott (2002) 28 Cal.4th
946, 971; seo Peoplé v. Hamilton (2009) 45 Cal.4th 863, 900-901 (Hamilton);
People v. Avila (2006) 38 Cal.4th 491, 541.)

a. Prospective Juror Sandra D.

When initially questioned about his reasons for challenging Sandra D., the
prosecutor first .referred to her opinions about the then-recent not guilty verdict in
the high-profile murder prosecution of O.J. Simpson, as well as her views on the
death penalty: “[M]y main concern was her feelings about the O[.JJ[.] Simpson
case, which I felt was undefined. I thought [she] was sympathetic to Mr. Simpson
and I felt that her opinions concerning the death penalty were extremely scrambled
in terms of either pro or anti-death. So my main concern on her was her weak
opinions concerning the death penalty or undefined opinions concerning the death

penalty.” After the court gave him a chance to look at his notes, the prosecutor

added: “[SThe’s the person who said that she would have a very hard time judging =

the person in the death penalty case. Does not want the responsibility of making
that decision, She’s divorced. She’s not married, She lives in the Bloomington
area, and she’s only lived there for five months. She’s also lived in another street

in Bloomington, Riverside, and Rialto, [as a tesult of] which I .. . have some
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difficulty concerning her stability in the community. [§] And her educational
concerns . . , consisted of sometime at RCC, less than a year, evidently, and
perhaps as much as a year . . . at Valley College.”

The trial court then recessed until after lunch to give the prosecutor a
chance to refresh his recollection of the questionnaires, each 42 pages long, filled
out by each of the challenged prospective jurors. When the court reconvened

-(outside the jm'}.r’s presence), the prosecutor reiterated his concerns about Sandra
D.’s ability to impose the death penalty. He also noted that he “did not see the
type of community leadership that [he] would hope for in a leader of group
dynamics of the thing.”

The trial court found the prosecutor’s explanation credible, stating that
“there was no problem with the non-racial basis for exercising the peremptory.” It
contrasted Sandra D, with Reginia S. and Huey D., the other two Black jurors
who, at the time of its ruling, had been challenged by the prosecutor, explaining
that there was a, “much closer question” as to the latter two.

Sandra D.’s answers on her juror questionnaire support the prosecutor’s
concern that she would be reluctant to vote for death. When asked whether her
feelings on the death penalty were such that she would “never be able to vote for
the penalty of death of a defendant,” she did not check either “yes” or “no,” but
instead wrote: “I wouldn’t want to vote for anyone to die. But if they killed
someone then I think they deserve to die.” When asked whether her feelings were
such that she would “always be able to vote for the penalty of deat ,” she again
did not check “yes” or “no,” but wrote: “I think it would depend on how it happen
[sic]. Iwouldnt want to have to vote for the penalty of death. I just don’t want to
be the reason why someone died.” In response to a question asking whether she
could seé herself, “in the appropriate case, rejecting life imprisonment without the

possibility of patole and choosing the death penalty,” she checked “no,” and
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wrote: “I don’t want to have to make that decision on anyone.” And when asked
whether she could consider imposing the death penalty “as a realistic and practical
possibility,” she checked “no,” and explained: “I would feel like I killed them. It
would bother me. But if he did it he deserves the Death Penalty.” Sandra D. also
checked a box indicating that she was not upset by the O.J. Simpson verdict,
explaining: “I 1;eally don’t know if he did it or not.”

Sandra D. reiterated her reluctance to impose the death penalty during the
Hovey voir dire.2 She testified: “I just feel like I don’t want to be the one to say
someone gets the death penalty. It’s like I’'m killing someone.” When asked
whether, if she determined after hearing the evidence and the law that death was
the appropriate penalty, she would be able to come back with that decision, she
replied: “Probably.” She explained: “if...Ireally felt that [the murder] was
dbne, I think I would vote—I mean if it came down to it, I wouldn’t want to—but
I would do it.” Sandra’s answers might arguably have justified a challenge for
cause, though the prosecutor did not make such a challenge.

Defendant points out that Jurors Nos, 46, 119, and 370, all of whom were
members of the jury panel, expressed some hesitance about the death penalty, but
the prosecutor did not challenge them. He also notes that Alternate Jurots Nos.
389 and 91 indicated some hesitance to vote in favor of death. But each of these
jurors also indicated in other questionnaire responses that they would be able to
vote in favor of the death penalty if circumstances warranted. None answered, as
did Sandra D., that they simply did not “want to have to make that decision on

anyone.” =

2 Hovey v. Superior Court (1980) 28 Cal.3d 1.
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As defendant notes, some of Sandra D.’s questionnaire answers were
favorable to the prosecution. For example, she repeatedly said she supported the
death penalty, 'ekplaining “] feel if you kill someone you don’t have the right to
live.” She agreed with the saying “ ‘fa]n eye for an eye,” ” and she had two sisters
who were correctional officers. Defendant also disputes the validity of the
concerns expressed by the prosecutor about Sandra D.’s stability in the
community, pointing out that she had been employed at Kaiser Permanente for
more than seven years; she had lived in the same home for five years, then lived in
two others for a total of five years; she was a Girl Scout leader; and she planned to
open a home day care center. And while the prosecutor mentioned in passing that
Sandra was divorced, defendant points out that he did not strike Juror No. 392,
who also was divorced. Nor is it clear exactly how divorce would affect the
desirability of a prospective juror from the prosecution point of view in this case.

Nevertheless, the record amply supports what the prosecutor described as
his primary concern—that despite Sandra D.’s belief in the death penalty in the
abstract, she would have great difficulty in actually voting to impose it, She
expressed this concern repeatedly, both in her written answets to the jury
questionnaire and in her testimony during the Hovey voir dire, and she was never
able to say with certainty that she would be able to vote for death, initially stating
that she would be unable to do so and later stating only that she could “probably”
do so. Substantial evidence supports the trial court’s ruling that the prosecutor did
not challenge Sandra D. because of her race.

b. Prospective Juror Reginia S.

When asked to state his reasons for challenging Reginia S., the prosecutor
initially mentioned that her brother was a juvenile delinquent, that she came to
court casually dressed (in a T-shirt, sandals, and sweatpants), that she had no

children or family in the area, that she had limited college education, and that she
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did not appear to be “a stable petson in the community, based upon her housing
history, and job history.” After reviewing his notes, he added that she had
indicated a belief that race plays a part in the criminal justice system, and that she
had four different addresses as an adult. He acknowledged making a mistake with
respect to her college education—he had noticed that she had attended community
college, but he had not realized that she thereafter graduated from Pepperdine
University.

After reviewing Reginia S.’s jury quesﬁonnaire, the prosecutor began by
reiterating his concern about her manner of dress, noting that it was “completely
different from the attire of all the other jurors that we presently have in the box.”
He then pointed to her belief that the system is not always fair and that race
sometimes plays a role, expressed concern about het views on the O.J. Simpson
case, and noted‘that while she believed in the death penalty, she said the
prosecution “must absolutely prove guilt” and that she would only impose the
death penalty if it is proven “without a doubt that the crime was committed.”
Finally, he again noted that her brother had been in “the juvenile system.”

Defeﬁse counsel questioned the prosecutor’s reliance on the fact that
Reginia S.’s brother was a juvenile delinquent, pointing out that the prosecutor did
not know what crimes the brother had committed. With respect to Reginia S.’s
attire, counsel argued: “I don’t know how it would relate . . . to her ability to
understanding issues, to sit . . . as a fair and impartial juror, or to consider and
follow the Court’s instructions on evidence.” Counsel challenged the prosecutor’s
assertion that Reginia was unstable, pointing out that she had been married for 11
years and had good jobs. And counsel pointed out that Reginia wrote on her
questionnaire that she was for the death penalty, would vote to keep it, and could

vote for it in an appropriate case.
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The trial court discussed the prosecutor’s challenges to Reginia S. and to
Huey D. together, ruling that they were not based on group bias. The court said it
would “accept the truth of [the prosecutor’s] statement that he was concerned
about [the] statements [of Reginia S, and Huey D.] about their sense of the degree
of proof required that exceeds proof beyond a reasonable doubt” and found “that is
a truthful comment and that that is his . . . motivation.” With regard to other
reasons mentioned by the prosecutor for challenging Reginia S., the court noted
that it “would not have shared” éll the prosecutor’s concerns about Reginia S, and
Huey D., but acknowledged, “I’m not the lawyer trying this lawsuit.” The court
later added: “That’s not to say that I would have exercised the peremptories the
same as you, but it’s your case not mine. And I think the vltimate question
whether there’s purposeful discrimination, I don’t at this point find that there has
been. T don’t believe that your motivation has been a racial motivation.”

The trial court’s ruling emphasized the prosecutor’s stated concern that
Reginia S. would not vote to impose a death sentence unless defendant’s guilt was
proved to a standard greater than proof beyond a reasonable doubt. The concern is
both plausible and supported by the record. When asked to describe her general
feelings about the death penalty, Reginia wrote: “I’m for it, but we must
absolutely prove guilt.” And when asked whether she had “negative or positive
feelings about the death penalty,” she wrote: “Neither. I just think if we impose
death we need to be sure they did the crime.” Although these answers would not
justify a challenge for cause, the prosecutor could reasonably conclude that
Reginia S. would be sympathetic to an argument that lingering doubt about
defendant’s guilt ought to guide the jury’s determination of the appropriate
penalty—an argument that would be entirely legitimate, but unfavorable to the

prosecution.
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Defendant argues the prosecutor’s failure to voir dire Reginia S. on her view
of the standard of proof she would require before returning a death verdict indicates
the prosecutor’s stated reason was pretextual. Defendant is correct that an
attorney’s failure to meaningfully examine a prospective juror about a subject about
which the attorney claims to be concerned can constitute evidence of pretext.
(Miller-EL v. Dr.etke (2005) 545 U.S. 231, 246.) But here, unlike in Mz‘llewEl, for
example, the prosecutor’s stated concerns arose from a pair of questionnaire
responses that spoke for themselves; no additional clarification was needed to
ascertain Reginia S.’s meaning. (Cf. id at p. 244 [in light of prospective juror’s
“outspoken support for the death penalty,” prosecutor “would have cleared up” a
nﬁsunderstandihg concerning the juror’s attitude toward rehabilitation as a factor in
penalty decision had the prosecutor truly been concerned with the matter]; . at
p. 246 [noting that, after the prospective juror indicated that he did not know much
about his brother’s prior conviction, “the prosecution asked nothing further about
the influence his brother’s history might have had on [the juror], as it probably
would have done if the family history had actually mattered”].) Whatever
inference may arise from the prosecutor’s lack of questioning is not so strong as to
undermine the trial court’s determination that Reginia S.’s views on the standard of
proof did, in fact, matter to the prosecutor.

Defendaht further points out that the prosecutor did not challenge Juror
No. 46, who wrote that the death penalty should not be considered unless the
sentencer is “absolutely sure of guilt.” But Juror No. 46 also wrote that she could
set aside her feelings about when to impose the death penalty, explaining: “Would
choose appropriate penalty based on evidence presented—not my opinion about
punishment.”. In response to that same question, by contrast, Reginia S. wrote that
she could see herself voting for death “if it can be proven without a doubt . . .

[that] the crime was committed.” Defendant also points out that the prosecutor did
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not challenge Juror No. 119 and Alternate Jurors Nos. 389 and 91, each of whom
expressed some reluctance to impose the death penalty, But unlike Reginia S.,
these jurors did not say that they would not impose death unless guilt was proved
10 an absolute certainty.,

As noted above, the prosecutor gave several other reasons for challenging
Reginia S. Some of these additional reasons find support in the record. Regarding
the prosecutor’s assertion Reginia S. was more casually dressed than the other
proépectiv'e jurors, defense counsel agreed she was wearing a T-shirt and
sweatpants but questioned the import of this observation. Casual dress is a facially
race-neutral reason for exercising a strike, and courts have noted that prosecutors
may regard a juror’s dress as some indication of how seriously he or she takes the
responsibility of serving as a juror. (See, e.g., People v. Elliott, supra, 53 Cal.4th
at pp. 569-570; U.S. v. Thompson (9th Cir. 1987) 827 F.2d 1254, 1260.) The
record also lends some support to the prosecutor’s stated concern about Reginia
S.’s views regarding the evidence presented in the O.J. Simpson case; asked on the
questionnaire for her feelings about the case, she responded that “[1]f they couldn’t
prove he murdered Nicole, then the verdict was fair.” Similarly, the prosecutor’s
concern about Reginia S.’s belief that, as she wrote, “the system is not always fair,
[and] sometimes race seems to play a pa ” also finds support in the record. We
have previously upheld challenges based on similar reasons. (See, e.g., People
v. Mills (2010) 48 Cal.4th 158, 184 [upholding as race-neutral the prosecutot’s
stated concern about a prospective juror’s belief that the prosecution in the O.J,
Simpson murder trial had not proved Simpson’s guilt]; People v. Winbush (2017)
2 Cal.5th 402, 439 [“Skepticism about the fairness of the criminal justice system
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to indigents and racial minorities has also been recognized as a valid race-neutral
ground for excusing a juror.”].)3

| But other reasons given for challenging Reginia S. either lack record
support or do not withstand comparison to the prosecutor’s treatment of other
jurors. The prosecutor agserted that he challenged Reginia S. in part because her
brother had been found guilty of several minor theft offenses when he was
younger. But as defendant points out, Reginia S. wrote in her questionnaire that
she felt her brother had been treated fairly, and the prosecutor later declined to
challenge two alternate jurors who had close relatives who were convicted of
various crimes, The record suggests that the prosecutor’s concern with
prospective jurors’ stability was a general one, not limited to members of any
racial group. But the prosecutor’s stated concern about Reginia S.’s stability is
questionable in light of her questionnaire responses showing that, at age 38, she
had been martied for 11 years and had had only two employers (for one of whom
she had worked 11 years). Finally, despite acknowledging at one point he had
failed to notice Reginia had a bachelor’s degree from Pepperdine University, the

prosecutor later referred to her education as “limited”—an inapt characterization,

3 Defendant points out that the prosecutor did not challenge Jurors Nos. 317
and 353, who expressed somewhat similar views. But these jurors’ questionnaire
responses differed from Reginia S.’s in ways the prosecutor could well have
regarded as significant. Like Reginia S., Jurors Nos. 317 and 353 checked “No” in
response to the question whether Blacks were treated as fairly by the judicial
system as other persons. But of the three, only Reginia S. responded to an open-
ended question about problems with the criminal justice system by spontancously
raising questions about the system’s fairness and the role race-playsinit. In- -
response to the question asking whether they were upset by the O.J. Simpson
verdict, both Jurors Nos. 317 and 353 checked “Yes” and explained the jury had
not deliberated long enough. Reginia S., by contrast, checked “No” and
explained, as discussed earliet, that the verdict was fair if Simpson’s guilt was not
proven. .
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particularly considering that, as the trial court remarked, only 12 percent of San
Bernardino County residents had college degrees.

The prosecutor’s reasons for striking the next challenged juror, Huey D.,
raise much the same difficulty: While some of the reasons were supported in the
record, others were not. We will review the record concerning the challenge of
Huey D. before addressing the trial court’s rulings as to both prospective jurors.

¢. Prospective Juror Huey D.

In explaining his decision to strike Huey D., the prosecutor first mentioned
that Huey D. was 70 years old, that his opinions were “extremely confused,” and
that his opinions were “extremely weak” with respect to “the death penalty.and . . .
the status of crime in the community,” and “he put great emphasis on the fact that
he felt the standard of proof on the death penalty should be no doubt,” After
looking at his notes, the prosecutor added that Huey D. had given answers to
questions about the O.J. Simpson case that were “pro O[.]J[.} and anti
prosecution.” He also expressed concern about Huey’s views on individual
responsibility aﬁd why people commit crimes, and reiterated his concern over
Huey D.’s views on the death penalty. After a recess, the prosecutor observed that
Huey D. made “various statements ending with, I also feel that care should be used
in sentencing someone to death. There should be no doubt.” The prosecutor also
noted that Huey D. did not answer a question asking whether his feelings about
death were such that he would never be able to vote for death, instead explaining
that he had problems about how the question was asked. He also expressed
concern that Huey D. had written that he had no opinion about recent crimes
covered in the news (which included the Simpson case) and that he could not think
of ways to improve the critninal justice system. In the prosecutor’s view, these
views were surprising for a person who, like Huey D., was an educator with a

master’s degree. Regarding the Simpson case in particular, the prosecutor stated,
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Huey had answered that the verdict did hot upset him because he felt there was
doubt.

During the ensuing discussion, the prosecutor explained he was attempting
to pick a “well working, cohesive group” of jurors and was concerned with
whether prospective jurors “have any expetiences working with leaders and as
followers or working as a group.” When the trial court noted that Huey D. had
been a high school principal, the prosecutor replied: “I went through his particular
questions, It is not difficult to see why he is no longer in this group. Heis nota
person involved in the community. He is not involved in any community activity.
He is completely devoid of opinions concetning some of the hot issues in the
community today. He is a person who showed confusion by defense counsel’s
own admittance, that he was not too aware of what was going on. Idon’t know if
that was as a result of his age, which is 70 years old, and I don’t know. Again,
why take that risk when there are other people whom I’ve evaluated who are a
hetter fit within the total group?” In response, defense counsel asserted that
Huey D. was currently “a member of several organizations that are community-
based. The South Area Bay Club [sic Boys Club], the Parent Teachers
Association, and the Omega Psi Phi Fraternity,” The prosecutor asked whether
Huey was currently a member of these organizations, an apparent reference to
Huey’s questionnaire, which states that, except for the fraternity, he had not been a
member of these organizations for several years.

" As previously noted, the trial court concluded that the prosecutor
challenged Huey D. because he-feared that, like Reginia S., Huey D. would not
vote to impose the death penalty unless the evidence of guilt was more compelling
than proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Huey D.’s questionnaire answers and
testimony provide substantial evidence suppofting. this conclusion. Whén asked to

describe his general feelings about the death penalty, Huey wrote: “I feel that the
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death penalty does have a place in the system. It may or may not deter crime but I
feel that without it, crime could be worse. I also feel that care should be used in
sentencing someone to death. Their [sic] should be no doubt.” When asked
whether he had positive or negative feelings about the death penalty, Huey
reiterated the point: “I feel that the death penalty should be used in extreme cases
where their [sic] is no doubt.” When asked whether he would be reluctant to
personally vote for a sentence of death, he answered yes,

On voir dire, Huey D. stated his view that the death penalty “has its place”
and he would support it “if the proof is conclusive that this is what is hecessary.”
And he thereafter agreed with the prosecutor that on the “part of this case that may
deal with the death penalty” he “would want absolute proof.” When the
prosecutor informed him that the prosecution need only present proof beyond a
reasonable doubt, not absolute proof, and asked whether he could accept this
standard, Huey D. said he could. Nevertheless, it is not surprising that the
prosecutor believed that Huey D.’s views on the degree of proof required to
impose a death sentence made him a less than ideal juror for the prosecution. As
with Sandra D. and Reginia S., defendant argues that the prosecutor declined to
challenge several jurors and alternates whose views on the death penalty wete
similar to those of Huey D. But as previously noted, none of the jurors or
alternates repeatedly expressed the view that they would requite “absolute proof”
of the defendant’s guilt. The trial court did not etr in crediting the explanation.

Some of the other reasons the prosecutor gave for challenging Huey D. also
find support in the record. As the prosecutor noted, Huey had indicated in his
questionnaire that he was not troubled by the decision in the O.J. Simpson case,
writing; “I felt that their [sic] was doubt.” Huey also declined to answer a number
of questions seeking information about his attitudes toward the death penalty. For

example, when asked whether his feelings about the death penalty were such that
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he would never be able to vote for the death penalty, he did not answer, instead

- writing: “I really have problems as to how this question is asked.” He answered
other sentencing-related questions “I really do not know,” “Have no opinion now,”
or “No clear opinion.”

Reasonable minds might not share the prosecutor’s view that Huey D.’s
lack of an opinion about whether the death penalty was used frequently enough
and his inability to think of ways to improve the criminal justice system were
causes for concern. But the record provides no adequate basis for us to conclude
that the prosecutor’s reasons were a pretext for discrimination. Defendant points
to other jurors who were not challenged on similar grounds, Although some of
these jurors declined to give substantive responses to one or two questions, only
one—Juror No. 87—declined to answer multiple questions probing attitudes
toward the death penalty. Juror No. 87’s views were, however, nevertheless clear:
Among other things, Juror No. 87 indicated that she believed that “violent crime
murder” should “[a]lways receive the death penalty”; that the State should impose
the death penalty on anyone who kills another human being for any reason; and
that she “[s]trongly favor[ed] the death penalty” and had actively supported the
1978 Briggs Initiative reinstating capital punishment in California. As previously
noted, Huey D.’s questionnaire and voir dire responses did not paint a comparably

clear picture about his views on the death penalty.4

4 Defendant argues the prosecutor’s focus on Huey D.’s age (70) suggests

pretext because Huey had no health problems that would interfere with his service - - -

as a juror, But the prosecutor mentioned the prospective juror’s age as possibly
explaining his omitted and vague answers on the questionnaire, not in reference to
potential physical limitations. As explained above, the record provides sufficient
support for the prosecutor’s concern regarding Huey’s questionnaire responses,
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On the other hand, the prosecutor’s claim that Huey D. would not be a good
member of a cohesive jury because he “is not a person involved in the
community” rings false in light of the facts that Huey, a 70-year-old retired
teacher, principal and school administrator, was still involved in a fratefnity
promoting scholarship and leadership, had been in a parent-teacher association for
almost 40 years (ending seven years before trial), had supervised a Sunday school
and at earlier periods of his life was active in other youth-support organizations—
all experiences that likely involved both leadership and working in groups. Again,
the record suggests that the prosecutor’s interest in community involvement was
not limited to members of any racial group, but it is unclear why Huey D.’s
questionnaire responses would have raised particular concerns. The prosecutor’s
complaint that Huey wrote he had a problem with the way one of the death-penalty
questions was asked is undermined by the fact that jurors and alternates, whom the
prosecutor did not peremptorily challenge, also questioned or criticized aspects of
the lengthy, somewhat repetitive juror questionnaire.3 And the prosecutor’s
assertion that Huey’s answers regarding the reasons for crime and how it should
be handled showed a bias against law enforcement are not borne out by the record:
Huey’s responses on these questions—that crime had increased due to “lack of
jobs and proper supervision for youth” and that, to alleviate crime, communities

should receive more resources for resolving these problems—appear to reflect his

5 In colloquy with one prospective juror who found the questionnaire’s
death-penalty section hard to follow because of its repetitiveness, the prosecutor
remarked that it was “purposely” written “[t]o see if we can confuse people.” He
was no doubt joking, but the remark nonetheless undercuts his claimed concern
with Huey D.’s statement that he had a problem with the wording of one question,
(This prospective juror was excused for cause, without defense opposition,
because of his categorical inability to impose the death penalty.)
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commitment to educating and supporting young people rather than any negative
attitude toward police or prosecutors.

As to each of the three prospective jurors who were subjects of the first
Batson/ Wheelef challenge, the prosecutor, when asked for his reasons, identified a
relatively long list of questionnaire responses and other factors to justify the
challenge. In each case, the trial court identified what it regarded as a central
- nonracial reason for the challenge—Sandra D.’s deep reluctance to impose the
death penalty and Huey D. and Reginia S.’s insistence on a heightened standard of
proof before imposing the penalty—and found the prosecutor sincere in offering
that reason for the challenge.¢ This “laundry list” approach (Foster v. Chatman
(2016) 578 U.S. __,  [136 S.Ct. 1737, 1748]) carries a significant danger:
that the trial court will take a short-cut in its determination of the prosecutor’s
credibility, picking one plausible item from the list and summarily accepting it
without considering whether the prosecutor’s explanation as a whole, including
offered reasons that are implausible or unsupported by the prospective juror’s
questionnaire and voir dire, indicates a pretextual justification. A prosecutor’s
positing of mulﬁple reasons, some of which, upon examination, prove implausible
or unsupported by the facts, can in some circumstances fatally impair the
prosecutor’s credibility, (See U.S. v. Chinchilla (9th Cir. 1989) 874 F.2d 695, 699
[where two bases for the challenges were acceptable and two were not, appellate
court holds motion under Batson should have been granted: “the fact that two of

the four proffered reasons do not hold up under judicial scrutiny militates against

6 The prosecutor’s approach here may have resulted from a degree of
miscommunication between court and counsel. During discussion on defendant’s
motion, the court asked the prosecutor to “[c]over everything that you think is
important,” an invitation the prosecutor took as calling for “every single detail”
about the disputed challenges.
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[the supported reasons’] sufficiency”].) In assessing credibility at the third stage
of a Batson/Wheeler decision, trial courts should attempt to evaluate the attorney’s
statement of reasons as a whole rather than focus exclusively on one or two of the
reasons offered.

In this case, however, the record contains no indication that the trial court
took any short cut in evaluating the prosecutor’s credibility. Rather, the trial judge
expressed substantial concerns about the prosecutor’s challenges, which had
eliminated all the Black jurors in a case involving a Black defendant and defense
counsel. The court engaged actively in the third-stage analysis, questioning
counsel closely on certain points. True, after hearing the prosecutor’s presentation
and defense counsel’s rebuttal, the trial court focused on Reginia S. and Huey D.’s
statements aboﬁt a heightened standard of proof, accepting that as the prosecutor’s
motivation for those challenges. At the same time, however, the court expressly
allowed further discussion on the propriety of the strikes, and further discussion
indeed ensued, The court expressed skepticism as to the prosecutor’s assertion
that Reginia S. and Huey D. possessed insufficient education, community
involvement, or leadership ability to function as part of a “well working, cohesive
group,” noting that Reginia S. was better educated than many residents of the
county and Huey D. had been a high school principal. After further argument
from both parties, the court in conclusion stated that while it might not have
exercised peremptory challenges in the same manner, it continued to'ﬁnd the
prosecutor had not exercised them with a racially discriminatory motivation.
Despite its skepticism as to certain of the offered reasons, the court’s overall
assessment of the prosecutor’s credibility remained unchanged.

That the trial court did not address in detail each of the numerous reasons
the prosecutor gave for excusing Reginia S. and Huey D. does not mean it failed to -

make a sincere and reasoned evaluation of the prosecutor’s reasons overall. A
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sincere and reasoned evaluation of the progecutor’s stated reasons does not, in
every circumstance, require the court to make detailed comments on every such
reason, (Hamilton, supra, 45 Cal.4th at p. 901.) But the court should determine
whether the challenge was based on group bias by considering the reasons as a
whole, without focusing on a single stated reason to the ex.clusion of others. The
record indicates the trial court here properly considered the prosecutor’s statement
of reasons as a Whole, and we therefore give the lower court’s credibility finding
the deference due a sincere and reasoned evaluation.

d. Prospective Juror Elizabeth K.

The prosecutor gave a lengthy explanation for his challenge to Elizabeth K.,
occupying fully 10 pages of transcript. The prosecutor said that because Elizabeth
K. had “considerable experience as a leader” and “a tremendous amount of group
ability,” she was likely to be the jury foreperson (the defense having assertedly
“knock[ed] out [his] leaders™), but her queétionnaire answers indicated that she
was likely to vote for life imprisonment without possibility of parole and to
persuade other jurors to do the same. He explained that he had a system by which
he rated the prospective jurors, that he had rated Elizabeth K. a “C minus” because
of her views on the death penalty, and she was the only C minus juror remaining
on the panel. He said he had asked a supervising deputy district attorney who had
tried death penalty cases, and who used a similar grading system, to read her
answers pertaining to the death penalty, and he gave her the same grade.

The prosecutor explained that certain of Elizabeth K.’s answers seemed

disingenuous, He noted that when asked what the criminal justice system’s -~~~

biggest problems were and how they could be improved, Elizabeth K. said she had
not thought about it and had not had much interaction with the criminal justice
system. He had difficulty crediting this answer because Elizabeth had been on the

board of directors of a spousal abuse home. Elizabeth also wrote that she had not
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followed the O.J. Simpson case, which the prosecutor found difficult to believe
both because of her involvement in spousal abuse issues and because Elizabeth’s
lmsband had been a professional football player who knew Simpson, When asked
whether her feelings about the death penalty had changed in the last 10 years,
Elizabeth said she had “ ‘never taken a position on it one way or the other.” ” The
prosecutor found it unlikely that a person with her experiences and education
would have no opinion on the issue.

The prosecutor was troubled that, when asked to describe her feelings about
the death penalty, Elizabeth K. wrote: “ ‘In general, I do not believe people
should decide who gefs to live and who has to die. However, I do believe there
are times that this difficult choice has to be made. It should not be taken lightly.”
And when the questionnaire asked whether she believed in “an eye for an eye,”
Flizabeth said she did not, commenting that “[t[wo wrongs don’t make a right.”
The prosecutor interpreted that comment as expressing the view “that anything
that had the possible taint of revenge or the use of the death penalty because some
crime deserved it was not appropriate.” When asked whether she had a positive or
negative feelings about the death penalty, Elizabeth said she viewed it “as a part of
our society’s system that we unfortunately have to deal with periodically.” The
prosecutor acknowledged that this answer was not “completely negative,” but he
found it “very weak, and certainly the weakest on the present panel.” The
prosecutor was also disturbed that, when asked for her general thoughts about the
benefit of imposing a death sentence on a person convicted of special
circumstances murder, she wrote: “ ‘I don’t see a benefit in sentencing anyone to
death. Ijustdon’t think of it in those terms.” ” In the prosecutor’s view, this
answer was “the ultimate capper in placing her in the negative side of the death
- penalty issue.” ‘Finally, when Elizabeth K. was asked whether she could show

mercy to a person guilfy of intentional murder, she wrote: “ ‘If by “mercy,” . .
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you mean grant a less harsh sentence, I could, if there were circumstances to
warrant it.” > The prosecutor viewed this answer as “pure game playing,”
explaining “I think she is equivocating, trying to conceal her true feelings.”

The prosecutor concluded: “My interpretation of her true feelings were that
she is likely to vote for life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, except |
in very extreme cases, and only if there are other jurors who could interact with
her to lead her to that approach. . . . [W]ith the present group on the panel . ., I
simply do not feel that that’s possible. I think that she would, in fact, lead at least
four of the other jurors, to her present position.”

The trial court found that the prosecutor excused Elizabeth K. because of
“her stand on death penalty issues.” The court agreed with the prosecutor that
Elizabeth K. was likely to be the jury foreperson, describing her as “extremely
qualified.” And after reviewing Elizabeth’s answers, the court found that the
prosecutor “could reasonably believe that she was extremely reluctant . . . to
[impose] the death penalty.” In the court’s view, the prosecutor reasonably
believed that Elizabeth was intelligent and open-minded, and could be talked out
of her opinions by other persuasive jurors, but “if you put her on a jury in the
absence of other leadership, . . . I think I’m hearing him say that . . . her reluctance
to impose the death penalty wouldn’t be disputed by anybody, and I think he could
rationally conclude that she’s reluctant to impose the death penalty . ...” The
court reasoned that the prosecutor’s decision to pass the challenge several times

with Elizabeth on the panel was consistent with this view. Summing up, the court

explained: “[TThe question is, as I sit here, do'T believe what [the prosécutor] says

or do I think that he is doing things for racial purposes? And I think if he was
doing it just for racial purposes he would have done it much sooner. ... [I]t really

does suggest to me . . . [t]hat he saw her as being resistant to the death penalty,
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probably would go along with it. ... []] Butnow she is going to be the leader
...and he fecls‘ that that’s a risk he can’t take. Ibelieve [the prosecutor] on that.”

Defendant argues that the prosecutor deliberately waited to challenge
Elizabeth K. until the defense had passed the challenge, which signaled to the
prosecutor that this was his last chance to strike her and thereby to ensure that the
jury contained no Black jurors. But as the trial court noted in rejecting the same
argument, this scenario is improbable: From the prosecutor’s point of view, it was
entirely possible that the defense could have passed after any of the three times“
that the prosecutor passed the challenge. If that had happened, Elizabeth K. would
have remained on the jury. The timing of the challenge supports the trial court’s
conclusion that the strike was not motivated by Elizabeth K.’s race, but instead by
the prosecutor’s evaluation of the dynamics of the jury following a series of
defense strikes,

Defendant also argues that the prosecutor’s stated concerns about juror
dynamics were :pretextual. He points out that the prosecutor did not challenge
Jurors Nos. 46, 119, and 370 and Alternate Jurors Nos. 389 and 91, each of whom,
as previously discussed in connection with the other Black jurors challenged by
the prosecutor, expressed some reluctance to vote for death. But the trial court
found that the prosecutor’s concern was not only that Elizabeth K. had somewhat
mixed feelings about the death penalty, but that she was likely to assume a
leadership role in the absence of other leaders. The trial court agreed with the
prosecutor that Elizabeth K., a regional personnel director for a major corporation
who had a bachelor’s degree in management and whose children were in college,
would have been “the probable foreperson.” Although the other jurors to whom
defendant points all revealed some degree of hesitation about imposing the death

penalty, none had the kind of background or leadership experience that Elizabeth
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"K. had, and the prosecufor may have believed that They would have léssimifhiénce ™ = =~

on the jury’s deliberations.

Itis by no means clear that Elizabeth K. would have persuaded other jurors
not to return a death verdict. None of her answers reflected an explicit opposition
to the death penalty or a strong reluctance to impose it; some of the answers cited
by the prosecutor appear innocuous from the prosecution perspective. Although
the prosecutor viewed some of her answers as disingenuous and found other
answers suggestive of an anti-death bias, others might infer from those same
answets that she was open-minded and would review the evidence fairly and even-
handédly. But the trial judge, who was present in the courtroom, credited the
prosecutor’s explanation. The judge noted that, when he was trying death penalty
cases some decades before, answers like Elizabeth K.”s would have been
considered “clear over on the right end of the political spectrum,” but “now I think
it’s not unreasonable for the prosecution to assume that somebody with answers
like this is certainly left of center” on the death penalty. Our task is not to
determine whether we would have shared the prosecutor’s concerns; the only
question before us is whether substantial evidence supports the court’s ruling that
the prosecutor described legitimate reasons for the challenge and that he
challenged Elizabeth K. for those reasons, not because of her race. Here,
substantial evidence supborts the trial court’s conclusion that the prosecutor
challenged Elizabetﬁ K. for reasons other than her race.

2. People v. Gutierrez

Defendant maintains that as in People v. Gutierrez (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1150
(Gutierrez), the trial court here failed to sufficiently scrutinize the prosecutor’s
proffered reasons. In Gutierrez, we held the deference due a trial court that has
made a “ ‘sincere and reasoned’ ” evaluation of the prosecutor’s reasons at the

third stage of a Batsorn motion (Gutierrez, at p. 1159) was not applicable when the
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grounds for the strike offered by the prosecutor and accepted by the court were not
self-evident and were not explained at the hearing, We explained: “Some neutral
reasons for a challenge ate sufficiently self-evident, if honestly held, such that they
require little additional explication, . .. Yet when it is not self-evident why an
advocate would harbor a concefn, the question of whether a neutral explanation is
genuine and made in good faith becomes more pressing.” (/d. at p. 1171.) The
trial court in Gutierrez had accepted “the ‘Wasco issue’ ”"—the prospective juror
lived in Wasco but claimed to be unaware of gang activity there—as the
prosecutor’s reason, but “never clarified why it accepted the Wasco reason as an
honest one.” (Ibid.) “The court may have made a sincere attempt to assess the
Wasco rationale, but it never explained why it decided this justification was not a
pretext for a discriminatory purpose. Because the prosecutor’s reason for this
strike was not self-evident and the record is void of any explication from the court,
we cannot find under these citcumstances that the court made a reasoned attempt
to determine whether the justification was a credible one.” (Zd. at p. 1172.)
Gutierrez’s reasoning is inapplicable here; the reasons accepted by the court
for striking each prospective juror were either self-explanatory or were explained
at the hearing. For reasons already explained, we conclude that the trial court’s
evaluation of thg prosecutor’s justifications was sincere and reasoned, and we thus

accord deference to its credibility ruling.”

7 Defendant maintains that “the prosecutor arguably scattered a couple of
ostensibly valid race-neutral grounds for excusing the Black prospective jurors
amongst his litany of pretextual race-neutral grounds.” He argues that the trial
court therefore should have applied a mixed motives analysis borrowed from other
legal contexts. (See, e.g., Hunter v. Underwood (1985) 471 U.S, 222, 228;
Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Corp. (1977) 429 U.8, 252,270 & fn.
21; Howard v. Senkowski (2d Cir. 1993) 986 F.2d 24, 30.) But the trial court did
not find that the prosecutor’s strikes were motivated by a combination of race-

(footnote continued on next page)
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B. Guilt Phase Issues

1. Trial court’s failure to instruct on lesser included offenses of second
degree murder and voluntary manslaughter

Defendant argues that the trial court erced by not instructing the jury sua
sponte on second degree murder and voluntary manslaughter, which are lesset
offenses necessarily included within the charged crime of first degree murder. He
asserts that its failure to do so violated his rights to a fair ttial, to due process of
law, and to reliable guilt and special circumstance verdicts as guaranteed by the
federal and state Constitutions.

Asa genfaral rule, “a trial court errs if it fails to instruct, sua sponte, on all
theories of a lesser included offense which find substantial support in the
evidence.” (People v. Breverman (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142, 162.) But a court must

(1317

instruct on such theories only when the record contains substantial evidence”
from which a rational jury could conclude that the defendant committed the lesser
offense, and that he is not guilty of the greater offense.” ” (People v. Whalen
(2013) 56 Cal.4th 1, 68 (Whalen).)

Here, defendant’s claim that the trial court should have instructed on
second degree murder fails at the outset because defendant himself asked the court
not to give the instruction at trial. “[A] defendant may not invoke a trial court’s

failure to instruct on a lesser included offense as a basis on which to reverse a

(footnote continued from previous page)

based and race-neutral considerations; it instead found that the strikes were based
on considerations other than race. Because we uphold that finding, we have no
occasion to consider what result would obtain if the prosecutor’s challenges were
based in patt on race-neutral reasons and based in part on group bias. We
therefore need not decide here whether mixed motives analysis applies in a
Batson/Wheeler case. (See generally Hamilton, supra, 45 Cal.4th at p. 909, fn. 14,
People v. Schmeck (2005) 37 Cal.4th 240, 275-277.) ' '
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conviction when, for tactical reasons, the defendant persuades a trial court not to
instruct on a lesser included offense supported by the evidence.” (People v.
Barton (1995) 12 Cal.4th 186, 198.) Defense counsel in this case asked the court
not to instruct on second degree murder; he said he had discussed the matter with
defendant, and defendant personally joined in the request on the record.
Defendant thereby invited the alleged error of which he now complains.

By contrast, defense counsel never asked the court not to instruct the jury
on voluntary manslaughter, although counsel did agree with the court’s
- observation that the evidence did not warrant it. Defense counsel was correct on
this point. As explained below, regardless of whether defendant adequately
preserved the issue for appeal, the court was right not to instruct on either second
degree murder or voluntary manslaughter, because the evidence at trial would not
have supported a jury finding that he was guilty of one of those crimes but not first
degree murdet,

Defendant argues that the jury could have found that he killed Rexford with
express malice (i.e., with the intent to kilf), but that he lacked premeditation and
deliberation, and that the killing therefore was second degree murder. “In the

[ 217

context of first degree murder, ¢ “premeditated” means “considered beforehand,”
and “deliberate” means “formed or arrived at or determined upon as a result of
careful thought and weighing of considerations for and against the proposed
course of action” * ” (People v. Lee (2011) 51 Cal.4th 620, 636.) “The process of
premeditation and deliberation does not require any extended period of time. ‘The
true test is not the duration of time as much as it is the extent of the reflection.’ ”
(People v. Mayfield (1997) 14 Cal.4th 668, 767 (Mayfield).)

Defendant points out that there was evidence that he wanted to talk to a

person named “Josh,” who, he asserts, might not have been Josh Rexford. He

notes that Linda Farias testified that, several days before the murder, she
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overheard'deféﬁdaﬁt conversing with three other men, during which they said that -
“Brian” killed Farias, that “Josh” was Brian’s cousin, and that “they were going to
get through [Josh] to find” Brian, but she heard no last names mentioned. A
reasonable juror, he argues, “could easily have concluded that [defendant] sought
out a ‘Josh’ to get information from him, not to kill him,” and thus that the killing
was unpremeditated. But the jury could have believed that defendant was looking
for a “Josh” with an unknown. last name only if it rejected Troy Holloway’s
testimony that defendant questioned him about Josh Rexford within a day or two
of the conversation overheard by Farias.

And more significantly, the evidence of the manner of killing cannot be
reconciled with defendant’s theory that the jury could reasonably have concluded
that he was merely seeking information. According to prosecution witnesses,
defendant staked out the apartment complex and, just before the shooting, secreted
himsélf in an apartment above Pupua’s. He then went downstairs, entered Pupua’s
apartment, and began shooting immediately, without saying a word. The defense,
in turn, relied on defendant’s testimony that his kidnappers brought him against
his will to Pupﬁa’s apartment and staked out the apartment priot to the shooting,
and that defendant then entered the apartment with his Hispanic male kidnapper,
who immediately started shooting, These are, of course, two very different
versions of events, but neither version would have supported a jury finding that
defendant committed the murder with express malice but without premeditation.
There is nothing in the record that could have led a reasonable juror to believe that
deferidant planned to converse with the victims or that he actually conversed with
them before or after the shooting. In short, “the entire course of conduct clearly
revealed by the evidence, taken as a whole, is inconsistent with any suggestion

that,” if defendant committed the shooting with express malice, “the killing|]
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[was] not willful, premeditated, and deliberate.” (People v. Carter (2005) 36
Cal4th 1114, 1184-1185.)

Defendant argues that the jury could have convicted him of second degree
murder by finding that he killed Rexford without premeditation or express malice,
but with implied malice. “Malice is implied when the killing is proximately

‘caused by ¢ “an act, the natural consequences of which are dangerous to life,
which act was deliberately performed by a person who knows that his conduct
endangers the life of another and who acts with conscious distegard for life,” * ”
(People v. Knoller (2007) 41 Cal.4th 139, 152.) Here, defendant maintains, the
juty could have found that he “knew that his act[ions] endangered the lives of the
apartment occupants” but merely “intended to frighten the apartment occupants.”
He again relies on the testimony that, several days before the shooting, he was
overheard saying he “would get through [Josh] to find Brian,” as well as the fact -
that the surviving victims of the shooting did not testify that the gun was pointed
at Rexford in particular, as opposed to all three victims. But defendant fired
between seven and 16 bullets over the course of 30 to 45 seconds. No fewer than
five of those bullets struck Rexford. Based on this evidence, the jury could not
reasonably conclude that defendant was simply trying to frighten Rexford.

- Defendant places significant Weight on Badibanga’s testimony that
defendant’s gun was pointing “upwards,” arguing that this was substantial
evidence that he fired recklessly or with gross negligence, not with a premeditated
intent to kill, But defendant takes the word “upwards” out of context. Badibanga
'téstiﬁed that when defendant first stepped into the apartment, he was “bringing
[his] gun up,” “[s]o it wasn’t to his hip or side[,]” and that “it was kind of going
upwards . . . but almost pointed forward.” Badibanga turned away before
defendant began shooting. This is not substantial evidence that defendant was

firing randomly or blindly in an upward direction.
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Deféndant argues that the trial colirt should have instructed the jury thatit
could convict him of second degree murder under the second degree felony-
murder rule, based on the theory that he killed Rexford in the commission of
discharging a firearm in a grossly negligent mannet, a felony. (Pen. Code,

§ 246.3.) But after defendant filed his opening brief, we held that a second degree
felony-murder conviction may not be based on a violation of section 246.3,
(People v. Chun (2009) 45 Cal.Ath 1172, 1200.)

Nor was defendant entitled to an instruction on second degree murder based
on the theory that he aided and abetted an assault with a firearm, and that second
degree murder was a natural and probable consequence of that offense. (See
People v. Prettyman (1996) 14 Cal.4th 248.) On the prosecution’s version of
events, defendant was the shooter; on defendant’s version, he was brought to the
apartment against his will by kidnappers. Neither version of events would have
supported a conclusion that defendant was liable for second degree murder on an
aiding and abetting theory. |

As for defendant’s contention that the trial court should have instructed the
jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter, we see no evidence
that would have supported such an instruction. Defendant points out that a
neighbor of Pupua who did not see the shooting testified that after it he overheard
someone say, “ ‘I couldn’t get to my gun.”” The neighbor did not know who
made the statement because “a group of people in front of the apartment . . . were
millihg around” when he heard the comment. Defendant argues that this
testimony, coupled with evidence that, within two days of Rexford’s death, Pupua
and Rexford were involved in a fight at a football game and Pupua was
peripherally involved in a fight at his own apartment, required the court to instruct

on voluntary manslaughter, based either on the theory that defendant was
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provoked and shot Rexford in the heat of passion or on the theory that he shot
Rexford in impt;rfect self-defense.

But none of the evidence cited by defendant in any way suggests that the
victims engaged in provocative conduct before the shooting began, or that
defendant was subjectively roused to “the actual influence of a strong passion”
(People v. Wickersham (1982) 32 Cal.3d 307, 327)—i.e., a “ < “[v]iolent, intense,
high-wrought or enthusiastic emotion” * ” (ibid. }—at the time of the shooting,.

The evidence therefore did not support an instruction on voluntary manslaughter
arising from the heat of passion. Nor does the evidence in any way suggest that
before the shooting began, the victims did anything that could have caused
defendant to believe that he had to shoot Rexford (or anyone else) to “ ‘defend
against imminent peril to life or great bodily injury’ ” (People v. Elmore (2014) 59
Cal.4th 121, 134), and there was no evidence that defendant had the requisite

“ <actual belief” (ibid.) that he needed to shoot Rexford for this reason, Thus,
there was no evidentiary basis for an instruction on voluntary manslaughter arising
from imperfect ‘sclf-defense.

Defendant argues that, by failing to instruct on any lesser included
noncapital offenses, the trial court gave the jury an all-or-nothing choice between
the capital charge and acquittal, in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the federal Constitution. (See Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S.

‘ 625.) But “Beck’s principles [are] satisfied if the jury was provided some
honcapital third option between the capital charge and acquittal. Here the jury was
provided with the noncapital option of first degree murder without special
circumstances.” (People v. Sakarias (2000) 22 Cal.4th 596, 621, fn. 3; People v.
Horning (2004) 34 Cal.4th 871, 906.) And in any event, as defendant
acknowledges, “the constitutional requirement that capital juries be instructed on

Jesser included offenses extends only to those lesser included offenses supported
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by substantial evidence.” (People v. Duff (2014) 58 Cal.4th 527, 562 (Duff), citing -
Schad v. Arizona (1991) 501 U.S. 624, 648; Beck, supra, at p. 627.) Here there
was no substantial evidence that defendant did not commit first degree murder but
did commit one of the lesser included offenses on which, he asserts, the juty

should have been instructed.

2. Admissibility of Troy Holloway's out-of-court statements and trial
testimony

In March 1995, more than four months after the murder, Detective Frank
Gonzales interviewed Troy Holloway about events following the muzder.
Holloway told Gonzales that the night after he found out that his friend Rexford
" had been killed, he bought a nine-millimeter pistol from Steve Blackshire for $70.
He said he did not ask who had originally owned the gun, but he threw it into a
wash three or four days later because he decided he did not need it, and he threw
the bullets that had been in the gun into a field “by the tracks.”

Two years thereafter, after defendant’s first trial had begun,8 Detective
Scott Franks located Holloway, who was stationed on a naval vessel in Virginia,
He asked naval officers to allow him to speak with Holloway, explaining that
Holloway was a possible witness to a crime. Two Navy petty officers brought
Holloway to a room, told him to call Franks, and remained present during the
ensuing telephone conversation.

In the conversation, Detective Franks told Holloway he was “in no trouble
now,” but he needed to “be totally honest.” Franks said the judge “is really P.O.’d

about what’s been going on,” and “he’s ordered me to . . . report back to him and

8 At the first trial, the prosecution attempted to introduce evidence that it had
discovered after the trial had begun, as well as evidence described in an earlier
police report that had not been provided to the defense. The trial court granted the
defense’s motion for a mistrial. '
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he’s gonna make a determination whether or not I have to cail” Holloway’s
commanding officer and have Holloway taken into custody, in which case
Holloway would be brought before the judge to “tell . . , the truth or . . . [be held]
... in contempt of court.” Several times during the conversation, Detective
Franks repeated that Holloway risked being held in contempt if he did not tell the
truth, although the trial court had never indicated to Franks that he was “really
P.0.’d” or that Holloway might be held in contempt. At one point in the
conversation Holloway indicated that he was not alone—i.e., that he was speaking
in the presence of naval officers—and that he was worried about being killed.
Franks responded, “you can be a cooperative witness or you can be in handcuffs,”

Holloway eventually said he would tell Detective Franks the truth. He then
admitted that defendant; not Blackshire, had given him the gun and that he had
returned it to defendant about two days thereafier. He also said that before the
murder, defendant had asked him where Josh Rexford lived and where he hung
out.

Defendant moved to bar Holloway from testifying and to exclude his
statement to Detective Franks, arguing that Franks improperly used coercive
techniques to elicit Holloway’s telephone statements. The trial court denied the
motion, and Holloway testified for the prosecution. Defendant now argues that,
by allowing Holloway to testify and admitting his out-of-court statements to
Detective Franks, the court violated defendant’s rights to due process, to a fair
trial, and to a reliable determination of guilt, as guaranteed by the United States
and California Constitutions.

Although the transcript of Holloway’s second interview was used by the
prosecutor to refresh Holloway’s memory on one point and by defense counsel to
impeach his testimony on another, defendant does not assert that the interrogation

tape was played for the jury or the transcript shown to them, and we have found no
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record of either évent. For this reason, we focus on defendant’s claiim that the
court etred in a&mitting Holloway’s trial testimony in light of the asserted police
coercion during the March 21, 1997, interview,

“A defendant may assett a violation of his or her own right to due process
of the law and a fair trial based upon third party witness coercion . . . if the
defendant can establish that trial evidence was coerced or rendered unreliable by
. prior coercion and that the admission of this evidence would deprive the defendant
of a fair trial.” (People v. Williams (2010) 49 Cal.4th 405, 452-4353, italics
omitted.) The defendant must show that improper coercion “directly impaired the
free and voluntary nature” of the evidence offered at trial. (People v. Boyer (2006)
38 Cal.4th 412, 444; see also United States v. Juan (9th Cir. 2013) 704 F.3d 1137,
1142 [“the government’s substantial interference with the testimony of its own
witnesses can violate the Due Process Clause”].)

While urging Holloway to be honest and tell the truth, Franks also made
plain the police‘believed, on the basis of others’ statements, that defendant had
given Holloway a nine-millimeter pistol on the night of Rexford’s killing.

Threats of punishment for failure to conform a statement to the police thedry, such
as Franks made here, may constitute coercion and, under some circumstances,
produce an unreliable statement. Whether they did so here is uncertain, The
transcript of Holloway’s interview with Franks also includes several exchanges in
which Holloway discussed his fear of retribution if he pointed the finger at
defendant and Franks sought to reassure him, gain his trust and motivate him to do

the right thing by testifying against defendant.? It is not at all clear whether

9 Franks told Holloway he believed Holloway was afraid of being killed;
later Holloway admitted his fear and asked how Franks knew. Holloway went on
to say that defendant “is a man that would come kill your ass. Why do you think I

(footnote continued on next page)
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Holloway changed his story during the March 21 interview because he feared
being held in contempt by the judge or because, having wanted all along to tell the
truth about the murder of his friend, he only then overcame his fear of defendant.
Defendant points out that Holloway was supervised by military personnel
during the telephone interview, and argues that members of the armed forces may
face pressure to comply under circumstances where an ordinary citizen would not
feel coerced. The United States Court of Military Appeals has recognized that a
servicemember “may be especiaily amenable to saying what he thinks his military
superior wants him to say—whether it is true or not.” (United States v. Armstrong
(U.S.CM.A. 1980) 9 M.J. 374, 378.) But here there is no reason to believe that
~ Holloway was t'rying to please his superiors when he made his statement to
Detective Franks. Nor is there any reason to believe that Holloway’s commanding
officer had an opinion about what Holloway should say. The petty officers who
were present during Holloway’s telephone interview had not been given any
specific information about Holloway’s prior statement to Detective Gonzales.
They were simply told that the police “were looking at [Holloway] .. .as a
witness to a crime.” Beyond their mere presence, there is no indication that they
expressly or impliedly pressured Holloway at any time during the interview.
Defendant argues that Detective Franks’s statements constituted an

improper and coercive offer of leniency to Holloway. But Franks never gave any

(footnote continued from previous page)

been holding off so long?” Franks appealed to Holloway to stand up for the
victim, his friend. Eventually, Holloway said that though he was “[p]etrified that
this man was going to kill me,” he “could not sleep with this shit on my conscious
any more.” Near the interview’s end, Holloway asked for “protective custody”
and Franks promised to “take care of you.”
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“indication that Holloway was in danger of-being charged with-a crime, and the - -
only promise of leniency he extended was the implicit promise that Holloway
would not be held in contempt if he cooperated and testified truthfully. Even if we
assume for the sake of argument that this promise was improper, “the case law
fails to support defendant’s premise that a third party witness’s statements are
rendered inadmissible against a defendant if induced by improper offers of
leniency.” (People v. Ervin (2000) 22 Cal.4th 48, 83.) “We have nevet held . , .
that an offer of }eniency in return for cooperation with the police renders a third
party statement involuntary or eventual trial testimony coerced.” (People v,
Badgett (1995) 10 Cal.4th 330, 354.)

We need not decide whether Holloway’s March 21, 1997, statement was
the product of coercion, as the record contains no evidence that any such coercion
extended to and influenced Holloway’s actual testimony. More than two months
passed between Holloway’s telephone interview with Franks and his testimony at
defendant’s trial. There is no evidence that in the interim Holloway sought to
disavow his statement or that Franks (or anyone else) threatened him with
punishment if he did. At trial, defense counsel cross-examined Holloway about
Franks’s assertedly coercive conduct in March, suggesting it motivated
Holloway’s change of story. Holloway responded that he told Franks about
defendant’s actions because “I decided it was time to tell the truth.” Franks’s -
threat “played a part in it, yes, but I still had come to that conclusion.” Holloway
could have retréoted his statement at trial and claimed he was forced to give it; he
instead defended it as the truth.

~ In support of his contention that Franks’s coercion “was ongoing at trial,”
defendant notes that Holloway testified that he was then on “terminal leave” from
the Navy, which meant he was “in the process of being discharged.” But while

Holloway still may have been subject to military authority at the time of his
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testimony, defendant points to nothing to suggest a threat of military discipline if
Holloway did not implicate defendant in his testimony. Defendant also notes that
at the close of proceedings the day before Holloway’s testimony the prosecutor
(outside the presence of the jury) stated he had “sent . . . Officer Franks and
Mr. Holloway back to his hotel room.” Defendant infers Holloway was being kept
“under the supervision of county law enforcement.,” Given Holloway’s March 21
request for Franks’s protection, however, no inference of coercive custody arises.
~ For these reasons, we conclude the coutt did not err in allowing Holloway
to testify. As mentioned earlier, the record fails to show Holloway’s March 21
statement was itself introduced in evidence. To the extent it was, however, any
error in doing so would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of
Holloway’s properly admitted testimony and the testimony of Patrick Wiley and

Linda Farias, which corroborated Holloway’s in key respects.

3. Failure to instruct the jury to consider defendant’s admissions with
caution

Defendant argues that the trial court committed prejudicial error when it
failed to give, sua sponte, CALJIC No. 2.71.7, which states: “Evidence has been
received from which you may find that an oral statement of [intent] [plan]
[motive] [design] was made by the defendant before the offense with which [he]
[she] is charged was committed. [] It is for you to decide whether the statement
was made by [a] [the] defendant.” As he points out, the prosecution, through the
testimony of Linda Farias and Troy Holloway, presented evidence of out-of-court,
preoffense statéments by defendant that tended to show his intent, motive, and
planning for the Rexford murder. |

The Attorney General concedes in his briefing that the trial court should
have instructed the jury to view evidence of defendant’s statements with caution.

But after the brief was filed, we ruled that a trial court need not, absent a request

43




by the defense, instruct the jury to-view a defendant’s -out-of-court statements with - -
caution. (People v. Diaz (2015) 60 Cal.4th 1176, 1181 (Diaz).) We declined to
decide whether this newly announced rule applies retroactively, however,
concluding that any error in that case was harmless. (/d. at p. 1195.) We reach the
same conclusion here.

We have held that a trial court’s failure to give the cautionary instruction is
harmless when there is no conflict in the evidence regarding the testimony in
question, but “simply a denial by the defendant that he made the statements
attributed to him.” (People v. Dickey (2005) 35 Cal.4th 884, 906.) In Dickey, the
court did not give the cautionary instruction but did instruct on “the significance of
prior consistentvor inconsistent statements of witnesses, discrepancies in a
witness’s testimony ot between his or her testimony and that of others, witnesses
who were willfully false in one material part of their testimony being distrusted in
other parts, weighing conflicting testimony, [and] evidence of the character of a
witness for honesty and truthfulness to be considered in determining the witness’s
believability.” (Ibid.) it' also gave “a general instruction on witness credibility
that listed other factors to consider.” (fbid.) We found that the defendant was not
prejudiced by the court’s failure to instruct the jury to view out-of-court statements
with caution, noting that the defense “extensive[ly] impeach[ed]” the two
prosecution witnesses who testified that the defendant had made out-of-court
statements, and that the defense had raised credibility issues pertinent to the
omitted cautionary instruction. ({bid.) In light of these facts, we concluded, “the
jury was unquestionably aware [the witnesses’] testimony should be viewed with
caution.” (Zd. at p. 907.)

Here, the trial court gave the same instructions that were given in Dickey,
covering prior consistent ot inconsistent statements, discrepancies in testimony, a

willfully false witness, the weighing of conflicting testimony and the credibility of
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witnesses generally. As in Dickey, defendant simply denied making the
statements attributed to him, and defense counsel pointed out the inconsistencies
and weaknesses in the testimony of Holloway and Farias.

Defendant argues that here, unlike Dickey, there was a conflict in the
evidence regarding the statements in question, claiming that prosecution witnesses
Farias and Holloway each gave inconsistent testimony descriBing what they heard
defendant say. ‘Whether or not this is true, the details of the statements were not of
great import; the real question was whether he made the statements at all. If
defendant made the statements, they were circumstantial evidence tending to show
that he carefully planned the murder of Rexford; if he did not make the statements,
they were not evidence to be considered by the jury, Under these circumstances,
as in Dickey, any etror in failing to give the cautionary instruction was harmless.

4. Challenges to miscellaneous guilt phase

Defendant argues that certain guilt phase instructions given by the trial
court (CALJIC Nos. 2.02, 2.21.2, 2.22, 2.27, 2.51, 2.62, and 8.20) violated his
constitutional rights to due process and trial by jury, as well as the requirement of
reliability in capital cases, by allowing the jury to convict him based on proof
insufficient to satisfy the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard.

We have repeatedly held that these instructions do not unconstitutionally
lessen the prosecution’s butden of proof. (See, e.g., People v. Pearson (2012) 53
Cal.4th 306, 326 [addressing all of the instructions except CALJIC No. 2.62].)
We decline to revisit our decisions in those cases.

Defendant includes CALJIC No. 2.62 in his list of instructions that he
claims undermiped the reasonable doubt standard. But he offers no argument or
authority stating how or why that instruction affected the prosecutor’s burden of
proof. Indeed, he cites CALJIC No. 2,62 as an instruction that, unlike another

instruction he challenges, correctly states the law. In the absence of supporting
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argument ot atithority, we nééd not corisider his challenge to CALIIC No: 2:62.
(Whalen, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 72, fn, 28, disapproved on other grounds in
People v. Romero and Self (2015) 62 Cal.4th 1, 44, fn. 17.) In any event, the
instruction was ‘properly given, (People v. Saddler (1979) 24 Cal.3d 671, 679—
680.)

C. Special Circumstance Issues

1. Sufficiency of evidence of prior murder special circumstance

At the special circumstance phase of trial, the prosecution presented two
exhibits—exhibits 24 and 63—for the purpose of proving defendant’s alleged
prior murder conviction, The defense presented no evidence. After deliberating
for a short time, the jury found the alleged prior murder special circumstance to be
true. Defendant argues the evidence was insufficient to suppott the finding, We
begin by describing the two exhibits.

Exhibit 24 contains five pages. Page 1 is a letter to the San Bernardino
Sheriff’s Department, the subject of which is “SMITH, Floyd Daniel Jr., YA#:
44591, Sup. Ct. No.: CR-22000.” The letter states, as relevant: “Attached are
documents shoWing the commitment under which we held the above named
subject . ... Also attached are Order of Discharge, fingerprints, and rap sheet. No
photo available. [1] This is to certify that I, the undersigned, am the official
custodian of all records of all wards committed to the Youth Authority, and that
the attached documents are true and correct copies of the records in my custody.”
The typed name at the bottom of the page is “Patricia A. Hagen, Supervisor,
Master Files” but the letter is signed “Kimbetley L. Dornback for” Hagen. The
initials “PAH:kid” appear at the bottom of the' page, indicating that Dornback is
Hagen’s secretary. Page 2 of the exhibit is a minute order from Riverside County
Superior Court stating that in case No. CR-22000, People v. Floyd Daniel Smith,

the defendant in that case appeared for “pronouncement of judgment” on a
P Judg
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“conviction” on December 4, 1984, Five counts are listed. As relevant here, the
minute order describes the charge in count II as “187PC (12022.5 PC) (1st deg).”
The order states that the defendant in case No, CR-22000 is “committed to the
California Youth Authority . . , for a period of time prescribed by law, (25 years
to life plus two Sfears enhancement as to count I [sic].)” A box checked on the
page indicates that “Plaintiff]]” moved to dismiss counts I, III, IV, and V, but it
does not say whether the motion was granted.

Page 3 of the exhibit is an order certifying that defendant was honorably
discharged from the California Youth Authority in July 1992, Page 4 is a card
from the Federal Bureau of Investigation purporting to show the fingerprints of
Floyd Daniel Smith, which states that Smith’s “charge” was “PC 187/12022.5
murder, first degree; use of firearm,” and the “final disposition” of the charge was
“CYA commitment—Riverside County Superior Court.” Page 5 is a rap sheet for
Floyd Daniel Smith stating that Smith was placed in CYA custody from Riverside
County on January 10, 1985, for “187 PC—Murder; first degree—used firearm,”
that he was paroled on January 22, 1991, and that he was discharged on July 24,
1992.

Exhibit 63 is 17 pages long. Page 1 appears to be a copy of the cover of a
folder that contains the Riverside county clerk’s record in the case of People v.
Floyd Daniel Smith. On this page is a red stamp (described in greater detail, infra)
stating that the attached pages are true copies of the record in the clerk’s office.
On the next three pages ate a five count information, dated April 9, 1984, charging
defendant in case No. CR-22000 with five crimes, count IT of which is muorder.
Following this are four mostly illegible pages showing a complaint and an
amended complaint that were previously filed in Mt. San Jacinto Municipal Court

in the same case. The next eight pages are minute orders describing appearances
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" by Floyd Daniel Smiith in Case No. CR-22000., The last page is the first page of - =~~~

the preliminary hearing transcript in Case No, CR-22000.

Defendant makes three arguments in support of his claim that the evidence

of the prior conviction was insufficient, which we address below.
a. Alleged certification errors

Defendant argues that neither exhibit 24 nor exhibit 63 was propetly
certified. (See Evid. Code, § 1530.) He points out that exhibit 24 was not signed
by the custodian of the records it contains, but by that person’s secretary, and there
is no evidence that the secretary had custody of the records ot the authority to sign
the custodian’s name. And he notes that exhibit 63 was not actually signed: An
unknown person placed a red stamp on the exhibit’s first page that states: “This
must be in red to be a ‘CERTIFIED COPY.’ [] Each document to which this
certificate is attached is certified to be a full, true and correct copy of the original
on file and of record in my office.” Included in the stamped material is a stamped
signature of Arthur A. Sims, Clerk of the Riverside County Municipal and
Superior Courts, and what appears to be the seal of those courts.

At trial, defendant did not object to the admissibility of either exhibit, and
he does not now claim that the trial court should not have admitted them. Rather,
he argues that because the documents were not properly certified, they are not
sufficiently reliable to constitute substantial evidence supporting the jury’s finding
* that defendant had a prior murder conviction. We therefore treject the Attorney
General’s argument that defendant forfeited this claim, which is based on the
inaccurate understanding that defendant is arguing, in essence, that the court
should not have admitted the exhibits.

“Ta determine whether the evidence supports a special circumstance
finding, we must review ‘ “the entire record in the light most favorable to the

judgment to determine whether it discloses evidence that is reasonable, credible,
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and of solid value such that a reasonable jury could find” * the special
circumstance allegation true © “beyond a reasonable doubt.” > 7 (People v.
Becerrada (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1009, 1028 (Becerrada), quoting People v. Johnson
(2015) 60 Cal.4th 966, 988.) If the exhibits satisfy this standard, they are
substantial evidence regardless of whether they satisfied Evidence Code section
1530°s requirements for proper certification. Thus, to resolve defendant’s claim, |
we need not decide whether the documents were properly certified.

The letter signed by Kimberley Dornback for Patricia Hagen on the first
page of exhibit 24 was embossed with the stamp of CYA,10 and the red stamp
appearing on the first page of exhibit 63 depicts the stamped signature of the court
clex;lc and the seal of the Riverside Municipal and Superior Courts. All of the
documents attached to these two cover sheets appear to be official documents. We
consider it hi ghly improbable that the attached documents were in fact forgeries,
that the person described in them was not convicted, and that some unknown
person concocted an elaborate and easily disprovable hoax to frame defendant
with a fake conviction. Thus, exhibits 24 and 63 are evidence of reasonable,
credible, and solid value (see Becerrada, supra, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1028), and thus are
substantial evidence tending to show that defendant had a prior murder conviction.

b. Sufficiency of evidence that defendant was the person convicted

Defendaﬁt asserts that the exhibits do not identify him as the person who
was convicted. But the exhibits describe the conviction of “Floyd Daniel Smith,”
and the jury was aware that this was defendant’s name. More significantly,
exhibit 24 contains a card showing the fingerprints of the convicted person, and at

the guilt phase of trial Lita Holober, who worked for the crime scene

10 The embossment does not appear on the copy of exhibit 24 in the Clerk’s
Transcript, but it is plainly visible on the exhibit itself, '
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investigations unit of the San Bernardino Sheriff’s Department, testified that the
fingerprints on that card were defendant’s prints.

Defendant argues that the jury was not permitted to consider Holober’s
testimony because she testified at the guilt phase of trial, not the special
circumstanoé phase. We disagree.. Penal Code section 190.4, subdivision (d),
states: “In any case in which the defendant may be subject to the death penalty,
evidence presented at any prior phase of the trial . . . shall be considered an [sic]
any subsequent phase of the trial, if the trier of fact of the prior phase is the same
trier of fact at the subsequent phase.”11 Under this provision’s plain meaning, the
jury was entitled to consider Holober’s testimony. Defendant disagrees, relying
on this sentence in People v. Alvarez (1996) 14 Cal.4th 155, 242-243: “Penal
Code section 190.4, subdivision (d), declares in subétance that, if the trier of fact at
the penalty phase is the same as that at the guilt phase, it must considet the guilt
phase evidence.” But the quoted sentence in A/varez says nothing about whether a
jury may consider guilt phase evidence at the special circumstance phase—it
merely explains that a jury must consider guilt phase evidence at the penalty
phase.

- Defendant notes that when the trial court instructed the jury at the special
circumstances phase, it told the jury to “decide whether, from looking at these
documents, . . . [defendant] was previously convicted of murder or not,” and to
determine “if the records show that he was convicted of that murder.” Seizing
upon the italicized language, defendant argues that the court thereby told the jury
not to consider relevant guilt phase evidence. We do not read the court’s

comments as barring the jury from considering relevant guilt phase evidence that it

11 The word “an” appeats to be a drafter’s error, and should be either “at” ot
Gtin.”
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was statutorily required to consider. And when that evidence is taken into
consideration, the evidence is more than sufficient to show that defendant was the
person who was convicted of the prior offense.12
c. Sufficiency of evidence that defendant was convicted of murder

Finally, defendant asserts that the evidence was insufficient to show that the
crime he was convicted of was murder, assetting that “[t]he exhibits do not even
mention a prior murder conviction.” We _disagree. The December 4, 1984, minute
order in exhibit 24 states that defendant Was appearing for judgment on a
conviction. Five counts were listed, one of which was count I1, described as
“187PC (12022.5 PC) (1st deg).” The minute order is ambiguous with respect to
whether the other four counts were dismissed; it showed that a motion had been
made to dismiss those counts, but it does not reveal the outcome of that motion.
But the minute order unambiguously shows that defendant was convicted and
sentenced on count II. And while the minute order’s description of the charge in
count II may have been unintelligible to the jury, the meaning was clarified by the
accompanying fingerprint card, which says that “PC 187/12022.5” is “murder,

first degree” with “use of firearm.” This is confirmed by: (1) the rap sheet in

12 Defendant points out that a bracketed portion of CALCRIM No. 750, which
is to be given at the special circumstances phase of trials in which the prosecution
is alleging a prior murder special ciccumstance, states: “In deciding whether the
People have proved this special citcumstance, consider only the evidence
presented in this proceeding. Do not consider your verdict or any evidence from
the earlier part of the trial.” But CALCRIM did not exist at the time of trial and
CALCRIM No. 750 was not given here; thus, that instruction has no bearing on
the issue before us. The bench notes accompanying CALCRIM No. 750 do not
explain why the Judicial Council Advisory Committee on Criminal Jury
Instructions included this portion of the instruction in CALCRIM No. 750, and we
suggest that the committee reconsider the instruction in light of Penal Code section
190.4, subdivision (d).
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~ exhibit 24, which statés that defendant was committed to CYA for first degreé ™ -
murder; (2) the information in exhibit 63, count IT of which states that defendant
was charged with murder in violation of Penal Code section 187; aﬁd (3) the
minute order in exhibit 63 dated July 13, 1984, which states that defendant pled
guilty to count IT and the trial court fixed the degree of the offense as first degree.
Defendant points out that a clerk erroneously wrote on the minute order that
defendant was committed for “25 years to life plus two years enhancement as to
count I” (italics added), and argues that the jury should therefore have inferred that
the minute order described a conviction for robbery, which was charged in count I,
rather than the murder charged in count II. But the jury was not required to draw
this inference in view of the other evidence, described above, that defendant was
convicted of murdet, not robbery. Defendant also argues that the jury should have
inferred from the minute order of the proceedings expunging the conviction, which
states the guilty plea was withdrawn and the matter was “dismissed nunc pro tunc”
on May 18, 1993, that the murder conviction was thereby invalidated. But the jury
was not required to draw this legally unsound inference, and the presence of this
minute order in exhibit 63 in no way undermines our conclusion that the
remaining evidgnce presented to the jury amply supports its determination that

defendant had a prior murder conviction.

2. Use of defendant’s juvenile conviction to prove the prior-murder
special circumstance

Defendant mounts three constitutional attacks on the prior-murdér special
circumstance, which is based on a murder he committed before he was 18 years
old. First, drawing on the reasoning of the United States Supreme Court’s
decision in Roper v. Simmons (2005) 543 U.S. 551 (Roper), defendant argues that
the Eighth Amendment to the federal Constitution bars imposition of the death

penalty based on a prior-murder special circumstance when, as here, the prior
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murder was committed when defendant was a juvenile. Second, defendant
contends that California laws pertaining to the transfer of minors to adult court to
face homicide charges permit prosecutors and judges “to make arbitrary and
unreliable choices regarding which homicides committed by a person under age 18
can later be used to establish death eligibility.” For this reason, he asserts, the
Fighth and Fourteenth Amendments prohibit imposition of capital punishment
based on a California murder conviction of a juvenile who, like defendant, was
charged and convicted of murder as an adult under these provisions, Finally,
defendant argues that because California’s prior-murder special circumstance
applies to murder convictions sustained by juveniles in adult court, but not to
murder adjudications sustained by juveniles in juvenile court, the special
circumstance violates the Fourteenth Amendment’s equal protection clause.

Defendant did not raise these claims at trial, and the Attorney General
argues that he has therefore forfeited them, with the exception of the first
argument, which relies on a United States Supreme Court decision that was not
issued until after defendant’s trial. (See Roper, supra, 543 U.S. 551.) We have,
however, consistently considered the merits of attacks on the constitutionality of
special circumstance allegations in capital cases even when they were not raised at
trial (People v. Hernandez (2003) 30 Cal.4th 835, 863), and we do so here.

The claims, however, lack merit, as this court recently explained in People
v. Salazar (2016) 63 Cal.4th 214. Salazar held that Roper, supra, 543 U,S. 551,
does not bar the use of a prior murder committed when the defendant was a
juvenile as a special circumstance qualifying the defendant for the death penalty.
We explained: “It does not violate the Eighth Amendment for the Legislature to
conclude, as a matter of policy, that an adult who murdered as a juvenile, failed to
learn from that experience, and killed yet again, is a person ‘within the narrowed

class of murderers for whom death would be an appropriate penalty,” [Citation.]
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" The punishment is not imposed for the jivenilé offénse, but foi the crime
committed as an adult, considered in light of the defendant’s criminal history.”
(Salazar, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 226.) Salazar also rejected the claim of the
defendant in that case that “the use of juvenile murder convictions as special
circumstances violates the Eighth Amendment and the constitutional guarantees of
due process and equal protection because California’s juvenile transfer policies
permit prosecutors and juvenile coutts to exercise arbitrary discretion over which
homicides result in murder convictions instead of juvenile court adjudications.”
(Id. at p. 227.) We explained that “[t]he prior-murder special circumstance does
not turn on the procedures underlying the prior conviction, but on the gravity of
the conduct that is the necessary predicate of that conviction.” (/bid.) Finally,
Salazar held that “[¢]qual protection principles do not foreclose the Legislature
from concluding that those who commit a capital crime after being convicted of a
juvenile murder in superior court are more culpable than those whose prior murder
was adjudicated in juvenile court.” (lbid.)

Defendapt offers no persuasive reason to reconsider our resolution of these
questions in Salazar, and we decline to do so.

3. Constitutionality of the lying-in-wait special circumsiance

Defendant argues that the lying-in-wait special circumstance fails to serve
the narrowing function required by the United States Constitution and therefore
violates his Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights. We have repeatedly
rejected this claim (see, e.g., People v. Casares (2016) 62 Cal.4th 808, 848-853;
People v. Cage (2015) 62 Cal.4th 256, 281) and we decline defendant’s invitation

to reconsider the issue.
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D. Penalty Phase Issues
1. Omission of penalty phase instructions on general principles of law

Before the jury began its penalty deliberations, the trial court instructed it to
disregard all prior guilt phase instructions. (CALJIC No. 8.84.1.) It then gave
instructions covering, among other things, the jury’s consideration of aggravating
and mitigating circumstances and its consideration of prior convictions and prior
criminal acts offered in aggravation. | But it did not reinstruct the jury onthe
applicable general principles of law. Defendant contends that its failure to do so
was prejudicial error,

We agree with defendant that the trial court should have reinstructed the
jury. At the penalty phase, the trial court must “instruct sua sponte on the general
principles of law relevant to the evidence.” (People v. Daniels (1991) 52 Cal.3d
815, 885.) Ifthe court instructs the jury at penalty phase to disregard previously
given instructions, “it must later provide [the jury] with those instructions
applicable to the penalty phase.” (People v. Moon (2005) 37 Cal.4th 1, 37
(Moon).)

The Attdrney General argues that defendant invited the error by agreeing to
the language of CALJIC No. 8.84.1. We disagree. As we explained when we
rejected a somewhat similar contention: “Counsel did not . . . request or invite the
trial court to omit from the penalty instructions those instructions he now claims
were important. . . . [Clounsel may well have believed that the court would—
consistent with CALJIC No, 8.84,1—later reinstruct the jury with those guilt
phase instructions that retained their applicability in the penalty phase.” (Moon,
supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 37, fn. omitted.) Defense counsel’s agreement to the use of
CALIJIC No. 8.84.1 “did not absolve the trial court of its obligation under the law
to instruct the jury on the ‘general principles of law that [were] closely and openly

connected to the facts and that [were] necessary for the jury’s understanding of the
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case.” ” (Ibid., quoting People v. Carter (2003) 30 Cal4th 1166, 1219 (Carter).)
But, as explained below, the error was harmless.

* The court’s failure to reinstruct on general principles at penalty phase is not
necessarily prejudicial, even if the jury has been told to distegard its earlier
instructions. (Moon, Sup%a, 37 Cal.4th at p. 37.) Beyond general (and inadequate)
speculation about possible harms that could have flowed from the failure to
provide all potentially applicable instructions, defendant mentions only two
instructions whose absénce, he claims, affected the jury’s deliberations: The

| instruction on factors to consider in assessing witness credibility (CALJIC
No. 2.20), and the instruction on factors to consider in proving identity by
eyewitness testimony (CALJIC No. 2.92).13 The latter claim is easily disposed of,

because the trial court need not give that instruction unless requested to do so by

the defense (People v. Aleala (1992) 4 Cal.4th 742, 802~803), and defendant made

no such request at the penalty phase. But because trial courts must instruct on
factors affecting witness credibility in every case (Diaz, supra, 60 Cal.4th at
p. 1191; People v. Rincon-Pineda (1975) 14 Cal.3d 864, 883-884), we consider
his argument pertaining to that instruction in greater depth.

Defendaint points out that prosecution witness Felton M. testified that, 13
years before trial, defendant robbed and sexually assaulted him at gunpoint and
left him naked in a field. Felton also testified that he identified defendant as the

perpetrator from a series of photographs he looked at several days after the

13 Although defendant does not mention the point, the trial court also did not
reinstruct the jury on the definition of reasonable doubt. But a trial court’s failure
to redefine reasonable doubt at the penalty phase after giving CALJIC No. 8.84.1
is harmiless when, as here, the jury has no reason to believe that reasonable doubt
might be defined in any way other than the definition it received at the guilt phase.
(People v. Lopez (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1028, 1081-1082; People v. Boyce (2014) 59
Cal.4th 672, 716-717.)
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incident, and that he again identified defendant in a court proceeding. 14 There is,
however, some indication that Felton may have been intellectually disabled, and
because the assault occurred when defendant was 16 years old, his appearance
may have changed significantly during the 13 years between the attack and the
rial. Each of these circumstances could have affected Felton’s ability to identify
defendant. In cross-examination, defense counsel questioned Felton’s ability to
recall the incident, and in his closing statement counsél argued that Felton’s
testimony was inadequate to show beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant was
the perpetrator.- Defendant asserts that CALJIC No. 2.20 would have assisted the
jury in evaluating Felton’s testimony.

We have, however, repeatedly found similar errors to be harmless (People
v. Brooks (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1, 107-109; People v. Boyce, supra, 59 Cal.4th at
pp. 714-717; People v. Lopez, supra, 56 Cal.4th at pp. 1081-1083; People
v. Souza (2012) 54 Cal.4th 90, 134-136; People v. Lewis (2008) 43 Cal.4th 415,
534--536; People v. Rogers (2006) 39 Cal.4th 826, 904; Moon, supra, 37 Cal.4th at
pp. 35-39; Carter, supra, 30 Cal.4th at pp. 1218-1222), and we reach the same
conclusion here. As we explained in Lewis: “Unlike defendant, ‘we see no reason
to assume’ [citation] that the jurors would have felt free to evaluate the penalty
phase evidence in a vacuum, rather than carefully and deliberately, as they
apparently had evaluated the guilt phase evidence. Nothing in the closing
atguments of the parties suggested that the jurors were free to make a standardless
assessment of the evidence. Nor did the jurors ask any questions or request
clarification as to how to assess any of the penalty phase evidence.” (Lewis, at

p. 535.) And, as in Carter and Moon, defendant “fails to suggest how the jury ...

14 The charges were dismissed following defendant’s conviction and sentence
for the murder of Virgil Fowler.
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" might have misunderstood or misused” the evidence in question. (Carfer,at” =~
p. 1221; Moon, at p. 38.) Defense counsel attacked Felton M.’s credibility in his
closing statement, and we see no reason to believe that the jury would not have
given his argument the consideration it deserved. We therefore find no reasonable
possibility (People v. Brown (1988) 46 Cal.3d 432, 446--448 [reasonable-
possibility test applies to state law error at the penalty phase]) th.at the error altered

the cutcome of the penalty trial 15

2. Trial court’s denial of defendant’s motion to represent himself
during penalty phase closing argument

- On the rriorning scheduled for defendant’s penalty phase closing argument,
the defense told the trial court that defendant wanted to “relieve [c]ounsel of their
current duties” and to represent himself at closing argument. The court denied the
request. It noted that defendant’s attorneys had provided “wonderful”
representation, and it expressed concern that “constant objections” would ensue
because defendant would, in effect, use closing argument “as a vehicle for
testimony,” even if it was not his intention to do so. The court opined: “[Gliven
what I know about your personality, [ think that it would just be a matter of time
before you’d . . . lose your temper.” As ifto illustrate the court’s concern,
defendant responded, “I don’t want these people to represent me any fucking
longer,” and, when defense counsel requested three minutes to gather his things,
defendant unsuccessfully demanded that the jury be brought in immediately,

stating: “I don’t need three minutes, I don’t need three minutes for shit.”

15 We reiterate the admonition we gave in Carter, supra, 30 Cal.4th at page
1222: “[W1e strongly caution trial courts not to dispense with penalty phase
evidentiary instructions in the future. The cost in time of providing such
instructions is minimal, and the potential for prejudice in their absence surely
justifies doing so.”
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Defendant argues that the trial court erroneously denied his request to
represent himself at the penalty phase closing drgument, in violation of the state
and federal Constitutions. We disagree.

“[IIn oxder to invoke the constitutionally mandated unconditional right of
self-representation a defendant in a criminal trial should make an unequivocal
assertion of that right within a reasonable time prior to the commencement of
trial.” (People v. Windham (1977) 19 Cal.3d 121, 127-128 (Windham), fn.
omitted,) “[Olnce a defendant has chosen to proceed to trial represented by
counsel, demands by such defendant that he be permitted to discharge his attorney
and assume the defense himself shall be addressed to the sound discretion of the

coutt, . . . Among other factors to be considered by the court in assessing such

requests made after the commencement of trial are the quality of counsel’s
representation of the defendant, the defendant’s prior proclivity to substitute
counsel, the reasons for the request, the length and stage of the proceedings, and
the disruption of delay which might reasonably be expected to follow the granting
of such a motion.” (Zd. atp. 128.) “A trial court abuses its discretion when its
ruling ‘fallfs] “outside the bounds of reason.” > ** (People v. Waidla (2000) 22
Cal.4th 690, 714.)

Applying that standard, we find no abuse of discretion. As in Windham,
supra, 19 Cal.3d at page 130, “defendant’s request came at an exceedingly late
stage of the trial. Denial of the motion for self-representation resulted in nothing
more than preventing defendant from addressing the jury during closing
argument.” The trial court could reasonably believe that granting the motion
would be disruptive because defendant would have difficulty controlling his
temper and because it would be hard for him not to use closing argument as a
vehicle for offering new testimony “while not under oath or subject to cross-

examination.” (/bid.) And the court could reasonably conclude that defendant’s
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attorneys had provided high quality representation before the self-representation
request. Thus, as in Mayfield, supra, 14 Cal.4th at page 810, “[blecause two of
[the Windham] factors—the quality of counsel’s representation and the distuption
that granting the motion wouid cause—weighed strongly against the granting of
the motion, denial of the motion was not an abuse of the trial court’s discretion.”

Defendant does not appear to disagree that an untimely Faretta motion
(Faretta v. California (1975) 422 1].8. 806) is addressed to the trial court’s
discretion. But he argues that the only factors the trial court may consider are the
request’s equivocal or unequivocal character and its potential for causing delay or
other disruption. He argues Windham was wrong to petmit courts to consider
other factorsn——én error, he contends, that is traceable to a mistaken assumption
that the self-representation right disappeats once trial has begun. We disagree. In
exercising its discretion over an untimely request, the court must consider whether
any disruption that would l;e caused by granting the request is likely to be
aggravated, mitigated or justified by the surrounding circumstances, including the
quality of counsel’s representation to that point, the reasons the defendant gives
for the request, and the defendant’s proclivity for substituting counsel. Defendant
cites no authority, and we are aware of none, to suggesf that these considerations
are impermissible under Faretta,

3. Challenges to California’s death penalty statute

vDefendant raises a series of challenges to California’s death penalty statute

on grounds that we have repeatedly rejected, We decline to revisit our prior

holdings.
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- “[Penal Code] [s]ection 190.3 sufficiently narrows the class of murderers
eligible for cap{tal punishment.” (People v. Harris (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1269, 1322))
“ ‘[Clonsideration of the circumstances of the crime under section 190.3, factor (a)
does not result in arbitrary or capricious imposition of the death penalty;’ ”
(People v. Brasure (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1037, 1066.)

“ ‘Neither the federal nor the state Constitution requires that the penalty
phase jury make unanimous findings concerning the particular aggravating
circumstances, find all aggravating factors beyond a reasonable doubt, or find
beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravating factors outweigh the mitigating
factors.” ” (Peqple v. Linton (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1146, 1215.) “Nor are the
instructions unconstitutional for failing to prescribe any burden of proof, require
juror unanimity, or set out a ‘presumption of life.” ” (People v. Howard (2010) 51
Cal.4th 15, 39.) The United States Supreme Court’s recent decision in Hurst v.
Florida (2016) 577 U.S.  [136 8.Ct. 616], does not alter this conclusion,
(People v. Jackson (2016) 1 Cal.5th 269, 374; People v. Rangel (2016) 62 Cal.4th
1192, 1235 & fn. 16.)

“Consideration by the jury of unadjildicated criminal conduct at the penalty
phase does not violate the state or federal Constitution.” (Duff, supra, 58 Cal.4th
at p. 570.) The jury need not unanimously find the prior criminal activity
occurred. (Jbid.)

The trial court had no duty to instruct the jury that it could sentence
defendant to life without possibility of parole even if it determined that the
“aggravating circumstances are so substantial in comparison with mitigating
circumstances aé to warrant the death penalty,” (People v. Smith (2005) 35
Cal.4th 334, 370.) Nor need the jury be instructed on a “presumption” favoring
life imprisonment. (People v. Wall (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1048, 1072,)
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% “The California death penalty statute-is not unconstitutional in failing to
require the jury to make written findings concerning the aggravating
circumstances it relied upon, nor does the failure to require written findings
preclude meaningful appellate review.” ” (People v. Salcido (2008) 44 Cal.4th 93,
166, quoting People v. Prince (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1179, 1297.)

“CALJIC No. 8.85 does not violate the Sixth, Eighth, or Fourteenth
Amendments by including vague factors, by failing to delete inapplicable factors
or differentiate between aggrévating and mitigating factors, by using the adjectives
‘extreme’ and ‘substantial,” or by omitting a burden of proof as to either mitigation
or aggravation.” (People v. Williams (2013) 56 Cal.4th 165, 201.)

“Intercaée proportionality review is not required.” (People v. Livingston
(2012) 53 Cal.4th 1145, 1180.) “The California death penalty scheme does not
violate equal protectioh by treating capital and noncapital defendants differently.”
(Ibid.) “California’s death penalty scheme does not violate international law and

norms.” (People v. Mai (2013) 57 Cal.4th 986, 1058.)
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I11. DISPOSITION

We affirm the judgment.

KRUGER, J.
WE CONCUR:

CANTIL-SAKAUYE, C. J.
CHIN, J.

CORRIGAN, J.

LIU, J.

CUELLAR, J.

BENKE, J."*

%

Associate Justice of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District,

Division One, assigned by the Chief Justice purswant to article VI, section 6 of the
California Constitution,
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